

-i

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des au tions et des services bibliographiques Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A ON4

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your Me Votre relevence

Our Ne Notre rélérence

### AVIS

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

NOTICE

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon if the or university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, C. C-30. and subsequent amendments.

- í.

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise อบ microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer. surtout si les pages originales été ont dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

 $\odot$ 



# Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition as a source of knowledge

Raynald Prévèreau Faculty of Religious Studies McGill University, Montréal Submitted in August 1994

÷.

1.

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of M.A. © Raynald Prévèreau, 1994

ł. K



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your Ne - Voire rélérance

Our Ne - Notre (Chrence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS. L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION. L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTEGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CI NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-612-05420-9

### Abstract

Writing in seventh century India, the Buddhist philosopher Dharmakīrti developed a system of epistemology in which he recognized yogic intuition as a valid source of knowledge crowning the practice of meditation and capable of causing the psychological transformation necessary for the achievement of *nirvāņa*. But his account of the epistemological character of yogic intuition was controversial. Indeed, while it consists in a full understanding of a conceptual object (i.e. the four noble truths), Dharmakīrti insisted that, due to its clarity, the yogin's intuition be considered a category of sensation, which by definition is non-conceptual and pertains to particular objects. This thesis is an analysis of Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition as a category of cognition allowing the non-conceptual knowledge of conceptual objects.

Ecrivain indien du septième siècle, le philosophe bouddhiste Dharmakīrti élabora un système d'épistémologie selon lequel l'intuition yogique est une source de connaissance couronnant la pratique de la méditation et capable de provoquer la transformation psychologique nécessaire à l'atteinte du *nirvāņa*. Son analyse du caractère épistémologique de l'intuition yogique est toutefois controversée. En effet, bien que celle-ci consiste en une pleine compréhension d'un concept (i.e. les quatre nobles vérités), Dharmakīrti insiste sur le fait que, due à sa clarté, l'intuition yogique doit être considérée comme une catégorie de sensation qui, par définition, est non-conceptuelle et appréhende le particulier. Ce mémoire est une analyse du traitement que Dharmakīrti fait de l'intuition yogique comme un type de cognition permettant de connaître les concepts d'une manière non-conceptuelle.

i

# Contents

i.

\_\_\_\_\_

	Acknowledgements	iv					
	Abbreviations						
	Technical terms						
	Introduction 0.1 Yogic intuition and its problems	1					
	0.2 Methodology and outline	1 4					
1	Epistemology and the Buddhist religious path	7					
	1.1 Religion and epistemology	8					
	1.1.1 Epistemology and Buddhism	13					
	1.1.2 Beginnings of Buddhist epistemology	17					
	1.2 Dharmakīrti's principles of knowledge	19					
	1.2.1 Reality and efficiency						
	1.2.2 Novelty						
	1.2.3 Cognition-centricity in Dharmakīrti's system						
	1.2.4  Number of pramāņas						
2	Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation	35					
	2.1 Sensory cognition						
	2.1.1 The object of sensory cognition						
	2.2 Mental sensation						
	2.2.1 Object of mental sensation						
	2.2.2 Twofold nature of mental sensation						
	2.2.3 On knowing knowledge						
	2.2.4 Perceptual judgement: result of mental sensation						
	2.3 Non-conceptuality of sensation						
	2.4 Non-errancy of sensation						
	2.5 Summary: making sense of sensation	69					
3	Dharmakīrti on yogic intuition	73					
	3.1 What is yogic intuition?						
	3.1.1 The practice of meditation $\ldots$						
	3.2 Problem with yogic intuition	79					

References 10							101												
Conclusion 98						98													
3.4	Summary				96														
3.3	Valida	tion of yogic intuition		•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	93
	3.2.3	Solution: self-awareness	•	•		•			•	•	•	•	•		•	•		•	91
	3.2.2	Meditation on conceptual objects					•			•	•	•		•			•		88
	3.2.1	Meditation on perceptual objects		•				•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•			87

17

C

: 🖻

### Acknowledgements

I wish to express my gratitude first and foremost to my supervisor and friend, Richard P. Hayes, for letting me benefit from his knowledge of Buddhist philosophy, Sanskrit and  $I\!AT_E\!X$  during the last few years, and for the good laughs and the long walks across the cemetery; he alone made my stay at McGill a most enriching experience. I am also thankful to John Dunne and David Gould who, during the months of February and March 1994 on the e-mail discussion group BUDDHA-L, helped me refine some of the arguments presented in this thesis by challenging my interpretation of Dharma-kīrti's theory of yogic intuition. Finally, I am grateful to Bala, Barbra, Kamala, Mai, Mathieu and Monique; their valuable friendship gave me the courage to bring this study to completion.

1

iv

.

## Abbreviations

AK	Abhidharmakośa
AKBh	Abhidharmakośabhāṣya
HB	Hetubindu
NB	Nyāyabindu
NBh	Nyāyabhāṣya
NBTD	Nyāyabinduţīka of Dharmottara
NBTV	Nyāyabindutīka of Vinītadeva
NS	Nyāyasūtra
PS	Pramāņasamuccaya
PSV	Pramāņasamuccayavŗtti
PV	Pramāņavārttika
PVBh	Pramāņavārttikabhāşya
PVin	Pramāņaviniścaya
PVSV	Pramāņavārttikasvavŗtti
PVV	Pramāņavārttikavŗtti
Tib.	Tibetan
TS	Tattvasangraha
TBh	Tarkabhāṣā
Skt.	Sanskrit
SP	Sambandhaparīkṣa
SS	Santānânantarasiddhi
Vis	Visuddhimagga
VN	Vādanyāya

ų

Where an abbreviation is followed by Arabic numerals (e.g. PVV 201.14), reference is to the page and line numbers. Upper-case Roman numeral references (e.g. PVII:281) are to chapter and verse numbers. Lower-case letters (e.g. PVII:281ab) indicate pādas.

v

# **Technical terms**

.

abhrānta	Non-errancy.						
ajñātârtha-prakāśa	Revealing of an unknown thing; novelty.						
anātman	Non-self.						
anitya	Impermanence.						
anumāna	Inference.						
anvaya	Association.						
anyâpoha	Exclusion of the opposite.						
artha-kriyā	Efficiency either in the sense of the capacity to cause						
	cognition or in the sense of the capacity to fulfill a						
	human purpose.						
artha-sārūpya	Object-appearance.						
avisamvādi	Reliable.						
bhāvanā	Meditation, mental discipline.						
bhāvanā-mayī-prajñā	Wisdom resulting from the practice of meditation.						
cintā-mayī-prajñā	Wisdom resulting from critical thinking.						
duhkha	Discontent, painfulness, suffering.						
grāhaka	Apprehending cognition, cognitive aspect of a mental						
	phenomena.						
grāhya	Apprehensible object, content of cognition.						
indriya-pratyakşa	Sensory cognition.						
kalpanā	Concept, judgement.						
kalpanâpoḍha	Devoid of judgement or concept.						
kṣaṇa	Moment, momentary ( <i>kṣaṇik</i> a).						
mānasa-pratyakṣa	Mental sensation.						
nirvikalpa	Non-conceptual, non-judgemental.						
paramâņu	Atom.						
pramāņa	Knowledge, means of knowledge, valid cognition.						
pramāņa-samplava	Philosophical position according to which each means						
	of knowledge is active in the other's domain of operation.						

.

pramāņa-vyavasthā	Philosophical position according to which each means of knowledge is restricted to its own domain of operation.								
pratîtya-samutpāda	Dependent origination.								
pratyaksa	Sensation.								
samvādi	Reliable.								
savikalpa	Conceptual, judgemental.								
sāmānya-lakṣaṇa	Universal property.								
spașța	Vivid, vividness.								
sphuța	Vivid, vividness.								
sva-lakṣaṇa	Particular property.								
sva-samvedana	Self-awareness.								
śamatha	Tranquillity, tranquillity meditation.								
śruta-mayī-prajñā Wisdom resulting from learning or study.									
vikalpa	Concept.								
vipaśyanā	Insight, insight meditation.								
vyatireka	Dissociation.								
yogi-pratyakşa	Yogic intuition.								

.

٠

2

. .

\$

## Introduction

As a Buddhist philosopher interested in the theories of knowledge and reasoning, Dharmakīrti (600-660 C. E.) took a very different approach to yogic intuition from that of the Buddha, whose main concern was probably to give instructions on how to discipline the mind in order to generate inner peace. Instead of giving meditation instructions, Dharmakīrti proposed to analyse the nature of the yogic intuition itself as a valid cognitive process and event. His approach was not without problems, however, and the purpose of this thesis is to identify and address some of the inconsistencies in the analysis of yogic intuition which he presented in the most celebrated of his works, the *Pramāņavārttika* (PV).

### 0.1 Yogic intuition and its problems

It is Dignāga (480-540 C.E.) who first considered the Buddhist's yogic intuition from an epistemological point of view. He explained the cognition as capable of directly grasping the nature of a thing in itself (i.e. its particularity) independently of a teacher's instruction, and included it under the division of sensation which, with inference, is the only valid means of knowledge accepted by Buddhist epistemologists. According to Dignāga's definition of sensation, yogic intuition is therefore devoid of conceptual construction.

Following in the steps of Dignaga, Dharmakīrti later added that the yogin's intu-

ition is not simply a category of sensation, but more specifically a vivid cognition which results from the practice of meditation on the four noble truths and which has the power to liberate the yogin from the cycle of discontent and rebirth. The centrality of the four noble truths for the realization of *nirvāņa* is confirmed by Dharmakīrti's commentators Prajñākaragupta (10th century C. E.) and Manorathanandin (10th century C. E.), and we learn from Dharmottara (750-810 C. E.), another of Dharmakīrti's commentators, that the knowledge of their working principles (i.e. impermanence, painfulness and non-self) proceeds in three main stages: (1) what accrues to preliminary study and learning, followed by (2) the outcome of logical investigation, crowned by (3) the fruit of meditation. An important feature of this process is that it is only the clarity of the understanding that differentiates each of those three stages so that there is ultimately no difference between what is known through critical reasoning and what is known through the practice of meditation. As Charlene McDermott (1978, 154) tells us: "the yogin [...] employs a genuine means of valid cognition or *pramāņa*, which puts him in touch with what he has already ascertained to be real."

There is however a serious problem with this account of yogic intuition; a problem which arises as a result of Dharmakīrti's insistence on the fact that the object of meditation is the four noble truths. For since the four noble truths are by nature conceptual in that they establish causal relations between discontent, craving and ignorance of the principles of impermanence and non-self, they violate the criterion of non-conceptuality that defines sensation, so that there is no warrant for including the yogin's intuition among the categories of sensation. Yet, Dharmakīrti clearly states that his version of yogic intuition qualifies as a category of sensation. Does this mean that the four noble truths are only a means to another cognition which is itself nonconceptual and grasps a particular as opposed to a universal property? Probably not, since according to Dharmakīrti the ultimate yogic intuition, the one which is conducive to *nirvā*ņa, consists in a thorough understanding of these four truths. It could perhaps be argued that the penetration of the four noble truths becomes so clear that the cognition loses its conceptual and universal character. Yet, how vivid can a cognition be so that while being about universals and conceptual processes, it would be devoid of all the features of a universal such as generality, vagueness and, most of all, association with words and concepts? For this is precisely the condition that the yogic intuition must fulfill if it is to be regarded as a category of sensation; the intuition, as a sensation, must be a thorough non-conceptual understanding of concepts. The task of Dharmakīrti is therefore to show that the practice of meditation has the power to transform concepts into particulars, and unless he succeeds in this effort his treatment of yogic intuition will have to be rejected as inconsistent.

An altogether different problem with yogic intuition regards its validation process. For even if an intuition were non-conceptual and vivid, this does not guarantee that it is in accordance with reality. Moreover, considering that the great majority of Indian mystics, religious seekers and philosophers based their claims about reality on a yogic intuition of some kind arrived at through meditation practices similar to those of the Buddhists, and considering that their conclusions were utterly different, notably about the existence of a permanent self which the Buddhists were alone in denying, it is safe to say that at least some of the religious leaders went astray in their interpretation of reality. But how can we differentiate genuine insights from the hallucinations of charlatans? Can logical consistency constitute such criterion? Are there any others? Was Dharmakīrti dogmatic when it came to scrutinizing the intuitions of Buddhist and non-Buddhist yogins?

(i

Ģ

These are the two problems inherent to Dharmakīrti's treatment of yogic intuition

which this thesis proposes to address.

### 0.2 Methodology and outline

On the whole, the arguments presented below are the result of reading, in Sanskrit, various sections of the chapter on sensation of the *Pramāņavārttika* and some of its commentaries, in order to get a general understanding of Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation and then to see how yogic intuition fits into the general picture. Considering that most of PV has yet to be translated in a modern language, this approach was sometimes challenging.

Fortunately, other works by Dignāga and Dharmakīrti have been translated into English and have been useful guides in the realization of my project and my understanding of Dharmakīrti's thought. Particularly helpful were the recent translation of the Pramāņasiddhi chapter of PV by Roger Jackson (1993), the two translations of Dharmakīrti's Nyāyabindu (NB) (Stcherbatsky 1930, Gangopadhyaya 1971), and Masaaki Hattori's (1968) translation of the chapter on sensation of Dignāga's Pramāņasamuccaya (PS). Translations of works by later exponents of Dharmakīrti's thought such as Śāntarakṣita's (725-780 C.E.) Tattvasaṅgraha (Jha 1937-9) and Mokṣākaragupta's (11th-13th century C.E.) Tarkabhāṣā (Kajiyama 1965, Singh 1985) have also been of valuable help, as also various studies of different aspects of Dharmakīrti's thought and translations of non-Buddhist works on Indian epistemology. It is important to note at the outset, however, that very little scholarship has been devoted to the concept of yogic intuition as understood by Buddhist epistemologists in modern European languages. Except for McDermott's (1978) short article on Dharmakīrti's treatment of yogic intuition in NB and sections of Christian Lindtner's

송.

(1984) article on Dharmakīrti's *Pramāņaviniścaya* (PVin), scholars have tended to ignore Dharmakīrti's presentation of yogic intuition and when they do discuss it, it is only in passing while discussing other issues. So while modern scholarship has undeniably shaped my understanding of Dharmakīrti's thought, what is presented below regarding yogic intuition is mostly the result of my own juggling with the concept.

Logistically, I address the issues in three different sections. First, because the adequacy of epistemological investigation as a step toward spiritual liberation has been questioned by modern scholars and religious practitioners alike, I offer a brief survey of the debate and show that epistemology has indeed its place on the Buddhist path. Having done that, I give a presentation of Dharmakīrti's general theory of truth and explain how it is related to the goal of Buddhism, i.e. liberation from suffering.

Next, I offer a comprehensive account of Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation in an effort to provide a theoretical context against which to evaluate Dharmakīrti's treatment of yogic intuition. In itself this chapter should be a welcome contribution to modern scholarship since it is a rare attempt to look at Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation as a whole. It consists in an analysis of the definition, object, fruit and validation process of sensation and its various types. As we shall see, this category of cognition is extremely complex, and it is not clear whether it can be considered a means of acquiring knowledge on which we could act towards the fulfilment of a purpose.

Finally, the general theory of sensation having been considered in the second chapter, it is in the third chapter that an examination of yogic intuition truly begins. There, I provide a translation of the important verses of PV dedicated to it, and begin a critical analysis of its definition in order to determine what it is, whether it really meets the criteria of sensation, and whether Dharmakīrti advanced any crite-

5

rion by means of which we could differentiate faulty intuitions from those that are true. In other words, what I hope to achieve in this chapter is to determine whether yogic intuition is at all different from inferential knowledge, and whether Dharmakīrti, in attacking the views and intuitions of non-Buddhists and defending the intuition of the Buddha, was the victim of his own prejudices or whether his criticisms were justified. This chapter is thus aimed at understanding the nature of yogic intuition as Dharmakīrti defined it.

To recapitulate, Dharmakīrti developed an elaborate system of epistemology in which yogic intuition is recognized as a valid means of acquiring knowledge. Through an analysis of the epistemological character of yogic intuition and some of its obscure aspects, I hope to come to a better understanding of Dharmakīrti's epistemology and assess his whole system: is he promoting doctrinalism or critical, philosophical analysis?

271

 $\bigcirc$ 

6

 $\mathcal{O}$ 

### Chapter 1

## Epistemology and the Buddhist religious path

Given propositions whose truth is vital yet difficult to prove, religious people often find themselves appealing to the notion that religious truth-claims somehow are different than other sorts of truth-claims, and therefore may be accepted as true without recourse to argument or demonstration of the sort demanded of ordinary truth-claims (Jackson 1993, 81).

Considering that religion proposes to answer the most fundamental of our aspirations, i.e. the conquest of happiness, it is indeed curious that the most extreme cases of dogmatism be associated with its practice. For if there is one area where one should critically examine the metaphysical conclusions that are drawn on the basis of certain testimonies and personal experiences, it is where such conclusions can have an impact on one's achievement of happiness. Yet, religious practitioners tend to dismiss the entire enterprise of critical thinking when it comes to scrutinizing their beliefs, and even go as far in their dogmatism as to ridicule those who wish to bring some sense into the study and practice of religion. In this chapter I hope to show that due to the character of the questions to which religion proposes universal solutions, religious truth-claims must be critically examined before they can be embraced as valid. My motive for advancing arguments in favour of critical thinking is not, however, to put every religious truth-claim to the test. Rather, I wish to show that epistemological investigations are perfectly compatible with religion since the purpose of epistemology is to clarify what is meant by "truth" and to discover the ways in which it can be acquired and demonstrated. In that sense, epistemology has a lot to offer to religious practitioners insofar as it provides them with a method by means of which they can justify their beliefs and make them acceptable even to the non-believer. Having shown the importance of epistemology on any religious path, I then look at how Buddhists have responded to the challenge and give a general account of Dharmakīrti's theory of truth, arguing that his undertaking was perfectly compatible with the spirit of Buddhism.

#### **1.1** Religion and epistemology

If we look at the history of Western philosophy, we find that intellectuals have advanced three main defining criteria of truth: correspondence to reality, internal coherence, and practicality. Briefly, the correspondence theorist considers a belief to be true if it corresponds to reality; the coherence theorist if it does not contradict other beliefs; and the pragmatist if it leads to a successful action. Historically, both the coherence and pragmatic theories have arisen in response to sceptics who challenged the possibility of ever establishing correspondence between thought and reality (Ajdukiewicz 9-21). But while strict correspondence to a reality external to the belief system under examination is a difficult thing to ascertain, the coherence and pragmatic definitions of truth have other weaknesses which become evident when they are used to explain the conviction with which religious followers claim to be in possession of truth. Indeed, according to the coherence theory two different explanations of a given phenomenon are equally acceptable as long as they are free of internal

8

inconsistencies, while according to the pragmatic theory two completely different sets of belief are equally true, and in fact are equivalent, if when acted upon they lead to the same result. It is clear, however, that such relativism is not welcomed by the religious person in whose mind her truth-claims are not only efficient and coherent, but also without a doubt correspond to the way things really are. Some will argue that in our age of religious pluralism people have grown to be more tolerant of other systems of belief, and are willing to admit that theirs is only one of many ways to attain peace and know reality, so that religious followers subscribe to some form of coherence and/or pragmatic theories of truth. Traditionally, however, religious devotees can do without relativism since they believe that their faith is THE truth and that other traditions are at best incomplete, at worst totally wrong. So while the absence of contradictions and the capacity to lead to the fulfilment of a goal are qualities to be sought after by any system of truth whether religious, scientific or philosophical, we must conclude that "[t]he correspondence theory is at the heart of what religious people traditionally have meant by 'truth,' and—arguably—it must remain at the heart of any comprehensive world-view if that view is to be considered religious" (Jackson 1993, 42).

Given this strong concern for truth and the certainty with which religious truthclaims are promoted, it should not be surprising if religious people were also concerned "with establishing the foundations for secure knowledge, for without such foundations truth cannot be grasped firmly" (Jackson 1993, 101). A sincere interest in epistemology should in fact be an integral part of the religious quest, since it is only through epistemological investigations that a tradition can validate its assertions and justify the means by which they were discovered. Unfortunately, it is only a minority of religious philosophers who welcome epistemology and its testing apparatus. More often

ś.

÷

than not, religious people reject logic as a very inadequate instrument for testing their truth-claims and emphasize that their own experience is the only evidence they need. If their assertions purported to objects of everyday experience to which we all had equal access regardless of our religious beliefs, this argument from experience would satisfy the epistemologist since he accepts sensation, or direct experience, as a valid means of knowing. Yet, the object of religious experience is usually, maybe even always, beyond the reach of the senses and cannot be known directly. Experience thus cannot be a sufficient warrant of religious truth, for otherwise the experience of all religious visionaries would have to be accepted as true, regardless of the fact that they often contradict each other. We have no choice, then, but to appeal to logical consistency to differentiate truth from falsehood in matters of religious beliefs, since it is the domain of logic to test the validity of statements the object of which is not directly accessible to the senses<sup>1</sup>. But the religious practitioners are not so easily convinced and, as Jackson (1993, 81–5) has shown, they offer as many as three main arguments against any attempt to test their doctrines by means of logic.

(1) The first argument is that language is inadequate to describe the object and experience at the core of religion, so that no mundane method is adequate to test religious assertions and, therefore, no refutation of any concept used in the elaboration of a religious doctrine really puts the system or any of its aspects in jeopardy. This appeal to the ineffability of the religious experience is problematic, however, since we

2.

23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Incidently, Dharmakīrti opens one of his works with the following sentence: "This work is composed in order to explain inference briefly, because the knowledge of things hidden from the senses depends upon it" (Tib. don lkog tu gyur pa sgrub pa'i rten ni rjes su dpag pa nyid yin pas de bey brag tu rtogs par bya ba'i phyir mdor bsdus nas 'di brtsam mo. Skt. parokşārtha-pratipatter anumānāśrayatvāt tad-vyutpādanārtham samkṣepata idam ārabhyate) (HB 30-1). Note here that I have followed Turrell Wylie's system of transliteration (Wylie 1959) for all references to Tibetan texts given throughout the thesis, taking the liberty of modifying even quotes from authors who had used a different system of transliteration.

are now faced with the absurd consequence that if a teaching is ineffable, it must necessarily be true. Even more problematic, perhaps, is the fact that the argument defeats itself and does not at all serve its supporter. Indeed, if a religious experience were totally ineffable, it would be wrong to assume that any religious doctrine or any testimony of a religious experience is true, since by the very fact of verbalizing one's experience and proclaiming it to be truth, one proves oneself ignorant in the matter. Consequently, all religious teaching is refuted-including the one propounded by those arguing from ineffability—, and the role of expert is now upheld by none other than those who have not a single word to say about the matter—in which case it becomes impossible to know what truth is really all about. It is unlikely, however, that any religious person will accept such conclusions; she will instead continue to believe in the value of the doctrine to which she subscribes. Which is to show, therefore, that even those arguing from ineffability do not believe religious experiences to be completely ineffable. Instead, what they probably mean by ineffability is that it is very difficult to relate one's religious experience and that no explanation can ever capture its full meaning. In this case, however, ineffability is completely meaningless since all our experiences are, to some extent, ineffable. For example, no description of tasting an apple will match the sensation of biting into the apple oneself. It is possible that religious experience is more difficult to describe than other human experiences, but that is not to say that it is ineffable. And in the event that one chooses to relate one's experience and postulate it as corresponding to the way things really are, we are perfectly justified to test the adequacy of the analogies used to describe the experience and the conclusions that are derived from it, just as we would do for any other experience.

(2) Another argument is that religious propositions are not ineffable but simply

belong to a different class and, as a result, cannot be expected to undergo the same rigorous confirmation procedures as do scientific claims, for example. Such attitude, however, is a return to dogmatism since it suggests that a religious doctrine is to be tested according to its own criteria, which are often non-existent aside from the argument from experience or, in case they do exist, are counterintuitive. Moreover, asserting that as long as a system is internally coherent, it must be true has as its consequence that no competing religious truth is better than the other. As we have seen above, however, religious pluralism is accepted only in principle, and a religious person means more than internal coherence when she asserts the ultimate validity of her beliefs. This argument must therefore be abandoned since it only serves to avoid having to prove one's assertions and does not contribute to the least to the discovery of truth.

(3) Finally, a third argument against having to defend a religious position is that nothing can absolutely be verified or falsified by means of reasoning since the laws of logic make strong presuppositions and assumptions the validity of which is far from established. As a result, logic is dismissed as a tool for establishing truth and refuting falsehood. And ironically, scepticism, which has long been the enemy of religious dogma, now serves the cause of religion. But since pure scepticism defeats itself, it is an attitude that does not bring the debate to an end. Moreover, even if the value of logic were put into question, this does not imply that religious truthclaims are more likely to be true. And even if we admit—as we must—that our tools of evaluation are limited, religious truth-claims are meant to correspond to the real nature of things and, if for that reason alone, we ought to evaluate those claims in the hope of coming to a general agreement as to which metaphysical elaborations are more likely to correspond to reality. So this third argument must also be abandoned.

ţ1

Ç

Therefore, regardless of whether religious visions involve perception of the truth (and they may very well), claims made strictly on the basis of them cannot have the same general evidential weight as do claims that can be checked either intersubjectively or against more common types of subjective experience—for, unless we are to accept a total relativism that is as unsatisfactory to the religious philosopher as to the scientist, we must (and we do, instinctively) accord greater weight to evidence that is more disinterestedly gathered, more subject to intersubjective checking, more buttressed by ordinary perceptions and the inferences based on those perceptions (Jackson 1993, 97).

### 1.1.1 Epistemology and Buddhism

The doctrines of Buddhism are no exception to what has been said so far about the necessity to demonstrate religious truth-claims. What is exceptional about Buddhism is perhaps the fact that from the very beginning it showed little resistance to the critical evaluation of religious doctrines. Indeed, we find in the very first sutta of the  $D\bar{i}gha$  Nik $\bar{a}ya$ , the Brahmaj $\bar{a}la$ -sutta, a portrayal of the Buddha as involved in the refutation of as many as sixty-two misconceptions of reality. And in another short sutta of the Anguttara Nik $\bar{a}ya$ , the Kesaputta-sutta, the Buddha is portrayed as advising the K $\bar{a}l\bar{a}mas$  not to accept any religious doctrine out of reverence for the teacher, but rather to see for themselves whether the doctrine made sense and whether it really worked. There is in fact evidence for this tendency to employ critical thinking as an important tool toward the discovery of religious truth even in the doctrines of Buddhism; more specifically in the formulation of the noble eightfold path.

As it is clearly spelled out in the first two components of the path—right view and right thinking—, in order to experience total peace of mind, a Buddhist must first know which views to shun and which to cultivate, which virtues to practise and which vices to avoid. More specifically, right view consists in a genuine understanding of the four noble truths, which is achieved at the intellectual level by a critical examination of

their validity and the subsequent abandoning of all conflicting views, and then at the experiential level by purifying the mind through the perfection of wisdom—an insight into the truths of impermanence, discontent and non-self. Right thinking in turn consists in aspiring to achieve supreme enlightenment and cultivate the mental habits that are beneficial to the achievement of this goal (i.e. morality and concentration); it demands that one critically examine one's character in order to distinguish those habits and modes of action that are beneficial to one's spiritual quest from those that are not. In short, the perfection of both right view and right thinking requires more than faith in the doctrine: it requires knowledge. In this respect, it is crucial for the Buddhist to be able to differentiate between what is knowledge and what is not, so that epistemology, because it provides the criteria and instruments necessary for the investigation of knowledge, is a most welcome tool in the perfection of these elements of the Buddhist path. It is not surprising, therefore, that Buddhists of classical India faced the challenge head on and went on to develop their own system of epistemological investigation. In fact, one can only wonder why it took a thousand years before they became interested in theories of sensation and reasoning.

But even in the face of such evidence from the tradition, scholars and practitioners have debated the adequacy of the Buddhist philosophers' attempts to find criteria against which they could measure their beliefs in order to determine which ones are relatively certain and which are not. As Ernst Steinkellner (1982) and Richard Hayes (1988, 9-36) have shown, opinions diverge and, even when they welcome systematic, critical thinking, in addition to formal meditation, as a means of eliminating false views and clear the way for truth (e.g. Stcherbatsky 1932, Warder 1980), modern scholars have tended to see Buddhist epistemology as a purely secular movement. Steinkellner (1982, 6) writes: "the assumption common to all these approaches is

that the epistemological tradition presents an essential deviation from the spirit of Buddhism." But such mixed reception of Buddhist epistemology is perhaps due to an inability to realize that the Buddha was probably aware of the pitfalls of the argument from experience, and would have welcomed the use of epistemology—had it been developed in his own days—if only to denounce charlatans by showing that reliance on testimonies cannot provide secure knowledge. His discussion of the three levels of wisdom is in fact yet another example of the Buddha's openness to critical thinking as an important element on the path to liberation. These three levels are respectively (1) the wisdom that accrues to learning, i.e. hearing or reading about the path ( $\dot{s}ruta-may\bar{i}-prajn\bar{a}$ ); (2) the one that accrues to logical investigation or critical thinking  $(cint\bar{a}-may\bar{i}-praj\bar{n}\bar{a})$ ; and finally (3) the one that accrues to the practice of mental discipline or meditation (bhāvanā-mayī-prajñā)<sup>2</sup>. In other words, between the stages of learning about the Dharma and applying it in one's life by purifying the mind through the practice of meditation, the Buddha recognized the necessity to try to arrive at an intellectual understanding of the doctrine. That is to say, while the first stage is necessary, mere faith in the doctrine without ever investigating its validity and applying its principles in one's life does not bring any benefit to the religious seeker. That this was the Buddha's position is attested by his repeated invitations to come and see the truth of Dharma for oneself. Also, that the correct practice of mental purification that occurs in meditation cannot be expected of one who has no understanding of the doctrine is attested by the mention of this middle stage of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Sangīti-sutta (sutta 33 of the Dīgha Nikāya) says, for example: "Three more kinds of wisdom: based on thought, on learning [hearing], on mental development [meditation] (cintāmayā paññā, sotamayā paññā, bhāvanāmayā paññā)" (Walshe 486). It must be noted here that wisdom (prajñā) in the context of Buddhism is more than the ability to discern inner qualities or relationships, and it is more than good sense. In the minds of Buddhists, wisdom is intimately linked with certainty (niścaya), which is its most characteristic manifestation.



critical thinking. So before embarking on the practice of Dharma (or simultaneously with one's practice), one is to examine the tenets of Buddhism and develop a deep and critical understanding of how they can contribute to liberation. Furthermore, one is to examine one's character in order to abandon counterproductive mental habits and develop those that are beneficial to one's quest. It is in the perfection of this second category of wisdom that the science of epistemology is most helpful. And since it was encouraged—though not developed—even in the oldest of the Buddhist scriptures, we have to admit that epistemology is perfectly compatible with the spirit of Buddhism.

In this respect, it must further be realized that while the Buddha appealed to personal experience as a valid—and in fact the most valid—method of testing a religious doctrine, his motivation for doing so was utterly different from that of the person who refuses to have her beliefs tested and argues that the value of her truth-claims will remain unaffected by the test of critical thinking. The difference lies in the fact that while the latter is opposed to any form of critical examination of her beliefs, the Buddha insisted that one should not accept his doctrine uncritically but should instead test its validity both through thinking and practice. This preference for critical examination over reverential acceptance of the words of any religious expert was convincingly shown by Hayes (1988, 41-62) to be present throughout the Buddhist tradition that preceded the emergence of a typically Buddhist system of epistemology. Accordingly, we must admit that Buddhist epistemology, which is nothing more than a systematization of the rational scepticism inherent to Buddhism and a perfection of the tools to be used in the development of the second type of wisdom known as cintā-mayī-prajñā, deserves its place as an element of the path to enlightenment-as long as its pursuit does not become an end in itself which supersedes the attainment of nirvāņa.

### 1.1.2 Beginnings of Buddhist epistemology

It is to Dignāga that we owe the introduction of epistemology in the Buddhist religion. While it is undeniable that the Abhidharma tradition had already made very systematic attempts to establish truth and eliminate vain opinions in the first centuries of Buddhist history, it is he, following the steps of his forefather Vasubandhu (400-480 C. E.), who was the first to advance criteria and to develop methods by means of which beliefs could be tested and justified; thus he made possible the leap from the status of true belief to that of knowledge, from certainty acquired by faith in the words of a religious figure to certainty acquired through reasoning. He accomplished this mainly in his *Pramāņasamuccaya*, which investigates various aspects of sensation and inference. Unfortunately, PS is available to us today only in its Tibetan translation; the Sanskrit original having been lost to history. This very important work has been partially translated into English by Hattori (1968) and Hayes (1988).

As Vittorio Van Bijlert (1989, 1-44) has shown, Dignäga was not only indebted to Vasubandhu for his contribution to Indian epistemology, but also to the old Nyāya tradition and especially to the Nyāyabhāṣya (NBh) of Vātsyāyana (450-500 C. E.), whose commentary on the Nyāyasūtra (NS) can be regarded as the first treatise on epistemology and logic in India. In fact, the Naiyāyikas were probably the first to claim that epistemology was a necessary, though not a sufficient, cause of emancipation. NS 1 says: "It is the knowledge of the real essence (or true character) of the following sixteen categories that leads to the attainment of the Highest Good—(1) The Means of Right Cognition; (2) The Objects of Right Cognition [...]" (Jha 1912-9, I, 37). Aside from the Naiyāyikas, Dignāga also borrowed many of his ideas from the grammatical schools, most of all from his contemporary Bhartrhari (c. 5th century

\_17

зŀ

P

C.E.) (Herzberger 1986).

 $\zeta$ 

Using Dignāga as a starting point, the tradition later climaxed in the works of his follower Dharmakīrti, whose central role in the sophistication of epistemology and logic, both Buddhist and otherwise, is attested by the vast commentarial tradition that surrounds his work. But although he has had a tremendous influence on the philosophical thought of India, and later of Tibet, little is known about Dharmakīrti's life. If we accept the legendary accounts found in the Tibetan tradition (Chattopadhyaya 224-48; Stcherbatsky 1932, 34-7), Dharmakīrti was born in south India from a well-educated family of Brahmanic faith. Well versed in Brahmanic philosophy, he eventually converted to Buddhism and went to Nālandā to receive Buddhist ordination and begin his study of epistemology. There, after surpassing his own teacher, Īśvarasena, in his mastery of Dignāga's PS, he was invited to write a commentary on that work, his *Pramāņavārttika*, an event which marked the beginning of his career as a writer of Buddhist epistemological treatises.

Aside from PV, his first and most highly regarded work, Dharmakīrti is credited the authorship of at least six other treatises. These are the *Pramāņaviniścaya* (PVin) and *Nyāyabindu* (NB), which are regarded as later abridgments of PV; the *Hetubindu* (HB), *Sambandhaparīkṣa* (SP) and *Vādanyāya* (VN), respectively dealing with the logic of syllogism, the problem of logical relations and debate; and finally, the *Santānântarasiddhi* (SS), a refutation of solipsism in the Yogācāra school. Lindtner (1980) has also suggested that two more works be added to Dharmakīrti's credentials: the *Tattvaniṣkarṣa*, which would have been his first work, and the *Laukikapramāņaparīkṣa*, but I haven't encountered anything to the effect that his thesis had been accepted or challenged by any other scholars. Regardless of the authority of these last two texts, however, PV remains Dharmakīrti's main work where, following the steps of his mentor Dignāga, he embarks on a discussion of reality and the various forms of knowledge. In the first chapter he spells out his theory of inference and language, which he applies in the second chapter to a polemical discussion of the authority of the Buddha as a religious teacher. Next comes a discussion of sensation and its various kinds, and finally a chapter on syllogistic logic<sup>3</sup>. Dharmakīrti himself wrote an extensive commentary on the chapter of PV dealing with inference.

#### **1.2** Dharmakīrti's principles of knowledge

In the light of what has been said so far about the importance of epistemological investigation in the context of proving the veracity of one's religious truth-claims, we may begin our analysis of Dharmakīrti's system of epistemology by asking how he defined truth. Perhaps the most popular of his definitions of truth is found at NBI:1, where it is presented as that which precedes all successful human action<sup>4</sup>; those actions being motivated by the search for the desirable and the avoidance of the objectionable<sup>5</sup>. This verse therefore suggests that truth, or knowledge, has occurred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Vinītadeva (8th century C. E.) mentions a third category of object: the one towards which we are indifferent (NBTV 5.3-15). But Dharmottara suggests that there are only two: "An object is either fit to be abandoned or desirable because the objectionable object is wished to be abandoned [and] also, the desirable [object is wished] to be obtained. And there is no object other than the objectionable and the desirable because what is to be disregarded is objectionable due to the very fact that it is not desirable" (NBTD 30.1-3: heyo 'rthah upādeyo vā, heyo hi artho hātum işyate upādeyo 'pi upādātum. na ca heyôpādeyābhyām anyo rāšir asti, upekṣanīyo hi an-upādeyatvāt heya eva.).



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>I here give the order of chapters suggested by Erich Frauwallner (1954) and followed by all of Dharmakīrti's commentators except for Manora hanandin, who commented on all the chapters of PV which he reorganized as follows: (1) authority of the Buddha, (2) sensation, (3) inference, (4) syllogism. Note that all subsequent references to PV follow the order of chapters offered by Manorathanandin (Pandeya 1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>NB I:1: samyag-j $\tilde{n}$ äna-p $\bar{u}$ rvikä sarva-purus $\hat{a}$ rtha-siddhir tad vyutp $\bar{a}$ dyate (The attainment of all human purpose is preceded by right cognition. [Therefore] it is examined.). We can get a similar idea from PVin I:30.17f, which Dreyfus (1991, 28) translates as "[Perception and inference are right cognitions] because [a person] who acts ('jug pa na) having determined (yongs su bcad nas) the object by means of these two (cognitions) is not deceived with regard to a purposeful action [performed by the object]" (de dag gis don yongs su bcad nas 'jug pa na don bya ba la slu ba med pa'i phyir).

when our apprehension of the object is an accurate representation of its real nature, for only an accurate representation of an object will lead to successful action. Dharmakīrti gives a more explicit definition of knowledge at PV I:3ac;7c; a definition that nonetheless gave tremendous difficulty of interpretation to his commentators and still puzzles modern scholars. The Sanskrit reads:

pramāņam avisamvādi jnānam arthakriyā-sthitiķ avisamvādanam (3ac). ajnātârtha-prakāšo vā (7c).

Recently, Georges Dreyfus (1991) seems to have hit upon the most, and perhaps the only, sensible interpretation of this passage in his analysis of mKhas grub's (1385– 1438 C. E.) commentary on PV. As Dreyfus shows, mKhas grub looked carefully at all the possible antecedents of verse 7c and arrived at the conclusion that Dharmakīrti meant to define knowledge as a cognition that is always reliable, for it either leads to the fulfilment of a purpose or reveals something new; he thus took reliability (*avisamvādanam*), and not valid cognition (*pramāna*), to be the missing antecedent of PV I:7c. The verses should accordingly be translated as follows:

pramāņam avisamvādi jnānam arthakriyā-sthitiķ avisamvādanam (3ac). ajnātārtha-prakāśo vā (7c).

[3ac] Valid cognition is a cognition that is reliable. Reliability [consists] in being conducive to the fulfilment of a purpose. [7c] Or, [reliability] is the revealing of a [yet] unknown thing.

#### **1.2.1** Reality and efficiency

The first observation to be made about the above definition of knowledge (or truth) regards the importance that Dharmakīrti accords to the concept of efficiency not only as a defining characteristic of truth in the sense of human beliefs, but also of

truth in the sense of reality independent of the human will. Indeed, for Dharmakīrti the ultimately real is defined in terms of causal efficiency; that is, what is capable of producing an effect is real in the ultimate sense, while that which lacks causal efficiency is only provisionally real—or even pure illusion. To be is therefore to be efficient.

sa pāramārthiko bhāvo ya evārthakriyā-kṣamah (PV III:166cd).

The thing that is capable of fulfilling a purpose (or producing an effect) is real in the ultimate sense.

arthakriyā-yogya-lakṣaṇam hi vastu (HB 3.14).

 $\hat{\mathcal{O}}$ 

For a real thing is characterized by the capacity to fulfill a purpose (or produce an effect).

arthakriyā-sāmarthya-lakṣaṇatvāt vastunah (NBI:14).

Because a real thing is characterized by the capacity to fulfill a purpose (or produce an effect).

As Seitatsu Moriyama (1991, 206-7) noted, however, this definition of reality did not make unanimity among Buddhists, especially among the Mādhyamikas for whom efficiency was tantamount to a thing that is dependently produced and thus cannot hold under close scrutiny. For Mādhyamikas such as Śāntarakṣita and Kamalaśīla, Dharmakīrti's definition of reality was therefore only a second-rate reality; at its best a correct conventional truth. But unlike the Mādhyamikas, Dharmakīrti did not wish to be trapped by the metaphysic of emptiness, and his entire system is based upon the principle of causality. Like them, he recognized that anything that we know and experience is dynamic and dependently produced, but unlike them he realized that what has causal efficiency must be attributed at least some degree of reality—and in fact the highest possible degree of reality since this is all that we can know—for the concept of reality to have any sense at all. Accordingly, he defined reality as the causally efficient. Yet, as Masatoshi Nagatomi (1968) and E. Mikogami (1979) have shown, Dharmakīrti had more than one idea in mind when he talked about efficiency. This is reflected in the above translations which suggest two ways in which efficiency—and thus reality—is to be interpreted in his writings: (1) in the sense of the capacity to produce an effect and (2) in the sense of the fulfilment of a human purpose. That is to say, Dharmakīrti had an ontological and a pragmatic definition of reality; ontological in terms of what is existent because of its capacity to cause cognition and other natural effects—such as obviating cold, in the case of fire—, and pragmatic as that which can lead to the fulfilment of a human purpose—such as using fire to cook food. And although the ontological and the pragmatic constantly interact in Dharmakīrti's system, one should not misinterpret his application of the criterion of efficiency to the fulfilment of human purposes to mean that he accorded ultimate reality to human activities. Rather, it should be understood as a sign that Dharmakīrti recognized that among our various beliefs some are efficient and some are deceptive, and that deceptive beliefs cannot correspond to reality.

### 1.2.2 Novelty

A second observation which must be made about the above verses is that in addition to making sensible Dharmakīrti's definition of knowledge, mKhas grub had a more original interpretation of the criterion of novelty than the one proposed by all other commentators. According to him, novelty should not be taken to mean that the object revealed by a given cognition has never been cognized before under any circumstance, but rather that the cognition ascertaining the object does so by means of its own power, not by means of another prior cognitive act, and therefore brings new information to one's continuum of consciousness. In other words, the criterion of novelty applies not to the entire cognitive history of an individual, but rather to a

particular instance of cognition, so that it is met when the cognition has "independent epistemic access to its object", as Dreyfus put it (1991, 20), and doesn't range over the field of operation of another type of cognitive activity. Dreyfus explains (1991, 20):

For example, a visual perception of my favorite rocking chair has access to its object independently of my previous perceptions of that chair, despite the fact that the information it conveys is not new. A remembrance of that same chair does not have such an epistemical independence, for it is a mere mechanical repetition of the results of a cognition. In short, for mKhas grub, a cognition is valid if, and only if, the experience of the object turns out to bring certainty through its own power....

A sensible advantage of this reading is that it allows for the subsequent and continued cognitions of a given object to count as valid cognitions—something that the traditional reading does not allow because of its misapplication of the requirement of novelty to the object of cognition, as opposed to the nature of the cognitive act. For example, under rGyal tshab's (1364–1432 C. E.) interpretation, which is the most authoritative in Tibet and is also representative of the Indian commentators, my cognition of my favorite chair is a valid cognition only the first time it occurs because all subsequent cognitions of it do not reveal anything new about the chair. For mKhas grub, however, the second and twentieth cognitions of the given chair are just as valid as the first because, in addition to successfully identifying the object as a chair, each reveals the object by its own power and thus brings new information to my continuum of consciousness.

This new meaning of novelty also reveals the twofold character of Dharmakīrti's theory of truth, one epistemological and the other pragmatic; that is, a cognition can be reliable pragmatically if it leads to the fulfilment of a purpose (PV 1:3ac), or  $(v\bar{a})$  epistemologically if it reveals an object that no other cognition can reveal at the

moment (PV 1:7c). Shoryu Katsura (1984) has proposed a similar interpretation of Dharmakīrti's system, but does not seem to have suspected that this is what Dharmakīrti meant to say when he used the disjunctive particle " $v\bar{a}$ " at PV 1:7c<sup>6</sup>.

We can summarize Dharmakīrti's definition of knowledge as follows: a cognition is a valid instance of knowledge—and is therefore true—if it correctly identifies its object in terms of place, time and inherent properties by its own power so that if one were to direct one's activities toward that object, the cognition would enable one to fulfill a given purpose.

### 1.2.3 Cognition-centricity in Dharmakīrti's system

Dreyfus and Lindtner (1989, 35) have suggested that the above definition of knowledge (cf PV I:3ac;7c, page 20) is rather peculiar, for it represents a departure from the traditional usage of the term "pramāņa" to express the most instrumental factor in the acquisition of knowledge, as Vātsyāyana defined it in the opening lines of his NBh: "that by means of which the person obtains the right cognition of the thing is called the 'Instrument of Right Cognition' (Pramāņa)" (Jha 1912-9, 2). When applied to the visual cognition of a pot, for example, Vātsyāyana's definition suggests that it is the eye that is to be considered the pramāņa. For Dharmakīrti, however, it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>For an overview of different Indian and Tibetan interpretations of Dharmakīrti's usage of the disjunctive particle " $v\bar{a}$ " (or) in verse 7c, instead of the conjunctive "ca" (and) that nearly all the commentators seem to have expected in his definition of pramāņa (valid cognition), see Dreyfus (1991), Franco (1991) and Lindtner (1991). While Dreyfus supports mKhas grub's interpretation of the given verses, Franco has a rather provocative, though also very plausible, interpretation. He argues that Dharmakīrti is not at all interested in defining pramāņa, but that he rather wants to show how the Buddha is a source of knowledge; that is, the Buddha is a source of knowledge because his words are reliable and because he teaches something thus far unheard of. Lindtner instead suggests that this passage is Dharmakīrti's way of answering, by means of punning, the Buddhist debate between Bhavya (500-570 C. E.) and Dharmapāla (530-561 C. E.) on the problem of the two levels of truth, which had made it impossible to speak sensibly about paramârtha-satya and its relation to samvṛtti-satya. Katsura's (1984) very clear study of Dharmakīrti supports the traditionally accepted interpretation of pramāņa as a cognition that is both reliable and reveals something new, thus taking the disjunctive " $v\bar{a}$ " as a conjunctive "ca". Van Bijlert (1989) also takes this position.



cognition itself that is the pramāņa, not the sense faculty. Because of this, Dreyfus and Lindtner have argued that pramāņa is for Dharmakīrti not an instrument of knowledge, but rather an act or instance of knowledge, a piece of cognition. I believe, however, that Dharmakīrti's innovation lies not so much in his usage of the term as in his saying that it is the cognition itself that serves as the most instrumental cause of knowledge as opposed to the sense faculties or some objects external to our consciousness. On my reading, Dharmakīrti's argument goes as follows: even if the senses are functioning properly and even if there is no obstacle to prevent our seeing a pot, we will have a knowledge of the visual stimulus only when its image is actually present in our consciousness. So because it is the cognitive image itself that most decisively differentiates an object from another, it is cognition itself that is the most instrumental cause of knowledge. Dharmakīrti's usage of the term "pramāņa" is therefore in perfect accord with the epistemological tradition already in place.

But his emphasis on the cognition as the instrument of knowledge is counterintuitive. And in fact, it leads him to support an even more peculiar position according to which the instrument, the object and the result of knowledge are all the same, and that their distinction is only the product of our imagination and of a careless analysis of cognitive activity. His argument supporting the identity of the instrument and result of knowledge directly follows from his belief that the instrument of knowledge is the cognition itself. In this case, the resulting knowledge becomes none other than our awareness of that same cognition. The dichotomy instrument-result is therefore overcome by arguing that a cognition, because it is self-luminous (cf page 46), possesses the two aspects of instrumentality and result.

Į.

The argument that the instrument and result are also the same as the object of knowledge seems more difficult to support, however, at least if we take a strictly

25 <sup>.</sup>

realist stand. But Dharmakīrti is not a realist, as should have been obvious from his reported emphasis on cognition. Instead, he believes, like his predecessors Vasubandhu and Dignāga, that it is impossible to know the object of cognition in itself as it would stand apart from the consciousness of it. On the contrary, he holds that the only things we can know are the images they project in our consciousness, having no way to verify whether each image is an accurate duplicate of the external object in its minutest details. The only objects of knowledge are therefore our own phenomena of consciousness! Nagin Shah (1981, 256) clearly summarizes how the threefold division of instrument, object and result of knowledge arises out of a unique moment of consciousness:

Dharmakīrti maintains that in the case of a piece of cognition the means of valid cognition is 'this piece of cognition assuming the form of something-that-grasps ( $gr\bar{a}hakabh\bar{a}va$ )', and the result produced is 'this piece of cognition apprehending itself (svasamvedana)' [PV2:364], the object of valid cognition being 'this piece of cognition assuming the form of something-that-is-grasped ( $gr\bar{a}hyabh\bar{a}va$ )'.

Dreyfus and Lindtner (1989) have argued that Dharmakīrti's commitment to the view that the instrument, object and result of knowledge are in fact identical to one another reflects the Yogācāra, by which they mean idealist, nature of his system. Idealist though it may sound, it is very unlikely that Dharmakīrti would support a strong idealism of the kind that Dreyfus and Lindtner want to attribute him, denying the existence of anything external to mind. On the contrary, the fact that Dharmakīrti wrote so much on inference as a way to eliminate false views suggests that he had a wider notion of reality than the pure idealist's, for what would be the use of assuring a correspondence between our beliefs and reality if the only reality were anything that goes on in our mind? Also, the fact that sensation is said to have direct access to reality, while inference only indirectly does so, suggests that the source of cognition

0
lies outside our consciousness. The most plausible interpretation of Dharmakīrti's system is therefore closer to phenomenalism than to pure idealism. In fact, I suggest that he took a phenomenalist approach because it was phenomenalism that most fitted what he had to convey to his audience; an audience that consisted mostly of ordinary people who had not abandoned their belief in an enduring self.

According to Buddhist doctrine, the belief in a self distorts our experience of reality and, in this respect, prevents our various cognitions from giving an accurate picture of things as they are in themselves. Consequently, those who entertain a belief in a self should realize, says Dharmakirti, that their cognitions do not correspond to reality and that so far as they distort reality to fit their own needs, all they can know with certainty are their own cognitions, not reality as it stands unaffected by their vested interests. In this respect, the threefold character-instrument, object and result—of the knowledge of those who haven't fully realized and integrated the truth of non-self into their lives should be understood to refer only to their afflicted mental phenomena. Clearly, Dharmakīrti could not have conveyed this message if he had subscribed to realism or idealism, and he was probably aware of the limitations of both of these approaches and the difficulties that they entailed for the Buddhist doctrine of non-self. He realized that if he adopted the position of a pure realist who believes that everything has its own reality (i.e. identity or self), he would have to abandon the theory of non-self, which is incompatible with a system according to which the objects of cognition, the means of cognition and the cognizer are all separately existing realities. On the other hand, if he were to adopt pure idealism, the theory of non-self could hardly stand up against the danger of regarding everything as the manifestation of a bigger self. But that Dharmakīrti was a pluralist who did not believe that everything emanated from a cosmic self is obvious from reading the

most idealist of his writings: the Santānântarasiddhi. For these reasons, I believe that Dharmakīrti had to take the middle position of a phenomenalist, and although his emphasis on cognition and his advancing the identity of instrument, object and result of knowledge may give the impression that he subscribed to idealism, I suggest that such an interpretation of his system must be abandoned.

### 1.2.4 Number of pramāņas

Having defined *pramāņa* in terms of cognition-centricity, Dharmakīrti's next move was to describe the various ways in which we can acquire knowledge. In this respect, he recognized only two qualitatively different types of phenomena of consciousness on the basis of which he posited only two kinds of knowing. Translated into the language of undifferentiated moments of consciousness, Dharmakīrti's argument goes as follows: Our phenomena of consciousness belong to two different groups: on the one hand there are vivid cognitions that have the object-appearance of sensible particulars, and on the other hand there are cognitions that have the object-appearance of concepts which ascertain their objects only in a vague and incomplete manner. Therefore, because there are only two kinds of mental phenomena, we can speak of only two kinds of knowing.

This way of presenting Dharmakīrti's position is not, however, the one that the philosopher used to convey his theory, for he did not use the language of mental phenomena. Instead, he advanced his thesis by taking advantage of the "illusory" categories of instrument, object and result of cognition which he himself rejected as belonging to a secondary order of reality—that of those believing in an enduring personality and wrongly taking their understanding of things to correspond to reality. At first, we might think that this tactic is a blatant inconsistency on the part of Dharmakīrti, since he gives the impression of building a system of epistemology on a priori which he does not even accept. But in reality this apparent contradiction is just one among many examples of his discursive method of constantly shifting his level of analysis of reality from the ultimate to the provisional level. When discussing the number of pramāņas, Dharmakīrti first admits that on the provisional level, our experiences are constantly divided up into object, instrument and result of cognition. Then he explains that when we look at knowledge from that perspective, we can identify two objects of cognition: the particular property to which we have direct access through the senses, and the universal property which is ascertained by means of inference. He concludes therefore that sensation and inference are the only two means of knowing.

na pratyakṣa-parokṣābhyāṁ meyasya anyasya sambhavaḥ tasmāt prameya-dvitvena pramāṇa-dvitvam isyate (PV 11:63).

It is not the case that there exists an object of cognition other than the perceptually present and the perceptually absent. Therefore the fact that there are [only] two means of cognition (*pramāņas*) is established by the fact that there are [only] two objects of cognition.

mānam dvi-vidham vişaya-dvaividhyāt śakty-aśaktitah arthakriyāyām (PV II:1ac). arthakriyā-samartham yat tat atra paramârtha-sat anyat samvrtti-sat proktam te sva-sāmānya-laksane (PV II:3).

There are two means of knowing because there are two types of subject matter, depending on whether it has or lacks the capacity to fulfill a purpose. Here, that which is capable of fulfilling a purpose is real in the highest sense; the other is called real by convention. These two are the particular and the universal [respectively].

Why Dharmakīrti employed illusory categories to prove his point about the number of ways of knowing is very mysterious. One could argue that having stated that we can know only cognitive events—and not the external objects—, Dharmakīrti stepped down to the level of his adversaries only in order to show that even at the conventional level of reality they did not have a correct understanding of the process of knowing when they advanc d, for example, up to six types of *pramāņa* as the Mīmāmsikas did. Even so, such shifting from one level of analysis to the other—so typical of Dharmakīrti's discourse—makes the task of reading and thinking about his philosophy discouragingly difficult. In fact, one gets the impression that Dharmakīrti even went as far as developing levels of reality within levels of reality, for he seems to consider facts and theories from an ultimately real conventional level of truth, and a false conventional level, as well as a really ultimate level and a rather provisional ultimate one. His style is enough to give a headache to the most devoted of his followers!

But regardless of the level at which he approached the question, it is clear that Dharmakīrti limited the kinds of knowing to two: sensation and inference. Sensation, as we shall see in the next chapter, has direct epistemic access to its object, the ultimate particular or factual. Inference, however, has indirect, though independent, epistemic access to its object which takes the form of universal properties, i.e. the formal. Yet, it must be reminded that the particular is the object of both sensation and inference. As Katsura (1991, 137) reports, the difference between sensation and inference lies in the fact that one directly ascertains the particular, while the other ascertains it indirectly. Hattori (1968, 80 note 14) comments: "That there are two sorts of prameya implies that sva-laksana is apprehended in two ways, as it is (sva $r\bar{u}pena$ ) and as something other than itself (para- $r\bar{u}pena$ ), but not that there is a real sāmānya apart from sva-lakṣaṇa." This point is another important feature of Dharmakīrti's system, which marks a departure from non-Buddhist epistemologists. According to him, it is impossible for inference to have direct access to the particular, and equally impossible for sensation to grasp universal properties. In other words, sensation and inference have mutually exclusive fields of action. In India, this position

was called pramāņa-vyavasthā. The opposite view, supported by the Naiyāyikas, was called pramāņa-samplava: a position suggesting that the pramāņas are active in each other's domain of operation. If we start with the position that the distinction between instrument, object and result of cognition is unfounded, as Dharmakīrti did, the exclusivity of each mode of knowing to its own field comes down to the bare fact that we have only two clearly qualitatively different types of cognitions—one direct and the other indirect or vague. This, in addition to the criterion of novelty according to which a cognition cannot take an object already ranged over by another cognitive activity, explains Dharmakīrti's disaccord with the Naiyāyikas.

Having stated his position with respect to the number of pramāņas, much of the work of Dharmakīrti consists in an elaborate investigation of the nature of sensation and inference and in the refutation of differing views. In this respect, we can say that in discussing sensation Dharmakīrti is making epistemological claims about the nature of sentient life, while in discussing inference he puts forward a system of critical reasoning which can be used in the refutation of vain opinions. Since this thesis proposes to discuss the epistemology of yogic intuition, a subset of sensation, we need not be concerned too much with the practical science of inference. The next chapter will deal with sensation.

## 1.3 Summary

As was suggested earlier in this chapter (cf page 16), in the event that epistemology would become an end in itself it would not have a place on the Buddhist path, and could even be rejected as counterproductive for its lack of concern with the attainment of nirvana. If we look at the works of the Buddhist epistemologists, however,

31

Ċ

we find that their interest in epistemology served the higher purpose of bettering the chances of attaining *nirvāņa*, which remained their top priority. Admitedly, the above presentation of Dharmakīrti's theory of truth may leave the reader with the impression that Dharmakīrti was an epistemologist for whom religious matters had no significance, but a more thorough examination of his usage of the tools which he and his predecessor developed clearly establishes that he was a Buddhist just as much as an epistemologist.

Hayes (1984) has shown that Buddhist philosophers have made use of the tools of epistemology in at least two ways, both of which have their roots in the pursuit of nirvāna. The first approach he attributed to Dignāga, the second to Dharmakīrti. In the hands of Dignaga, epistemology becomes an efficient instrument to analyse and test one's many opinions and prejudices, with the determination to abandon whatever viewpoint is unfounded and distorts one's experience of reality. In this respect, Dignaga saw in epistemology a means to perfect the first two elements of the noble eightfold path as was argued earlier (cf page 14). That is to say, Dignāga was more concerned with perfecting the laws of reasoning in order to pinpoint our wrong views than with defending Buddhist doctrine. If a Buddhist could ever have been accused of wasting his energy in secular activities, then it appears that Dignāga could have served as an easy target. And in fact, in response to Steinkellner's (1982) pointing to the opening verse of PS, where homage is given to the Buddha, as a definite sign that Dignāga composed his work as a Buddhist, Van Bijlert (1989, 170–1) has argued that considering the fact that this verse contains the only reference to the Buddha or Buddhist doctrine in the whole of PS, it is understandable that Dignaga's work was interpreted as a departure from Buddhist doctrine. Hayes (1988) has shown, however, that Dignaga's arguments in no way departed from canonical Buddhism

 $\Box$ 

because they aimed at developing instruments by means of which one could identify the fallacies in one's thinking and perfect one's character and understanding of reality. Dignāga therefore provided "one more way of doing so called insight (vipaśyana) [sic] meditation, regarded as crucial for the attainment of dispassion and nirvāņa" (Hayes 1988, 168). This identification of critical reasoning with the practice of vipasyan $\tilde{a}$ meditation will be unfamiliar to a majority of meditators who otherwise restrict the use of critical reasoning to the perfection of conceptual knowledge (cintā-mayī-pra $j\tilde{n}\tilde{a}$ ) and use the term "vipasyanā" to refer to formal meditation techniques—such as the mindfulness of the body—which are used in the development of a third kind of wisdom supposedly devoid of concepts, i.e. yogic intuition (or  $bh\bar{a}van\bar{a}-may\bar{i}-praj\bar{n}\bar{a}$ ). But in his commentary to the section of the Abhidharmakośa where Vasubandhu introduces the three types of wisdom (prajñā), Yaśomitra suggests that vipaśyanā is synonymous with prajñā (AK IV:14) so that there is not only the insight (vipasyanā) brought about by mental discipline  $(bh\bar{a}van\bar{a})$  to which today's meditators tend to limit themselves, but also that brought about by critical reasoning ( $cint\bar{a}$ ) to which Hayes referred. Hayes is therefore correct when he says that Dignāga introduced a new way of doing vipasyana mediation, and we cannot but agree with him (1988, 312) that "[t] he quest for such a *nirvā*na was [...] the principal motivation behind Dinnāga's philosophical presentations."

Dharmakīrti's use of epistemology was altogether different from Dignāga's. His motivation for working in this area becomes clear upon reading the *Pramāņasiddhi* chapter of PV, traditionally regarded as a commentary on PS I:1. There he is preoccupied with providing a rational basis for Buddhist doctrine, and engages in polemics the aim of which is to discredit other world views and establish the authority of the Buddha as a religious teacher. So while Dignāga attemped to uproot all our vain

opinions so that we could see reality as it is, Dharmakīrti went further and attempted to prove the value of a specific understanding of reality: the Buddhist understanding of reality. Because of his overt partisanship, Dharmakīrti therefore gives the impression of being more of a dogmatist than a rational sceptic, as was the case for Dignāga (Hayes 1988). But while we must acknowledge the difference in their approach, we must also acknowledge that Dignāga and Dharmakīrti aimed at the same target when they applied their energy to epistemological investigations—although it is Dharmakīrti who gave a religious flavour to the whole enterprise by his defense of Buddhist doctrine. Accordingly we must conclude that no matter how technical and "secular" it often becomes, Buddhist epistemology is a very important aspect of the search for *nirvāna*; it serves the perfection of conceptual knowledge, which is essential to experiential knowledge.

# Chapter 2

# Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation

It was suggested in chapter one that Dharmakīrti regarded sensation to be the most reliable means of knowledge because it eliminates uncertainty through direct apprehension of its object. In this chapter I shall give a more elaborate account of Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation. As we shall see, sensation is for him a non-erroneous, vivid cognition that is devoid of judgement and pertains to an ultimately real object. It proceeds in two general stages: in the first moment there is stimulation of the physical senses by a real object, and in the second moment one's attention is aroused so that it later becomes possible to identify the stimulus and determine the course of action to be taken. To use Dharmakīrti's terminology, these two moments are respectively called sensory cognition and mental sensation and, together with yogic intuition, they form the three types of sensation discussed in his system.

Of those three, sensory cognition is the paradigm upon which Dharmakīrti defines the other kinds of sensation. But the implications of this approach are not all desirable and are sometimes the source of controversies, notably when Dharmakīrti attempts to characterize all instances of sensation as non-conceptual. In this chapter we will investigate sensory cognition and mental sensation, and ask whether they can be regarded

ų.

as legitimate cases of sensation according to Dharmakīrti's criteria of vividness, nonconceptuality and non-errancy. The next chapter will ask the same questions with regard to yogic intuition.

#### 2.1 Sensory cognition

According to Dharmakīrti, the most primitive form of knowledge arises in contiguity with the five physical senses and their contact with their respective objects, so that we can speak of visual, auditory, olfactory, gustative and tactile sensations whenever the visual faculty is successfully stimulated by a colour, the auditory faculty by a sound and so forth. As such, his account of sensory cognition is very intuitive if we keep in mind that it corresponds not to what we today call perception, which involves mental processing and recognition of objects, but rather to sensing, which is devoid of any conscious effort of interpretation of the object. Sensory cognition is therefore the simple awareness of things, pure sensing of reality without any interference by concepts.

### 2.1.1 The object of sensory cognition

As we saw in the first chapter, Dharmakīrti defined reality in terms of the capacity to bring about some result; a criterion which is fulfilled either when an object successfully arouses our senses and causes cognition, or when this cognition can in turn serve for the fulfilment of a given human purpose. Efficiency can therefore apply to the nonconceptual object which is unaffected by our prejudices, or to the conceptual object which enables one to pursue more or less noble desires. In terms of sensation, it is the former meaning of efficiency that is most important<sup>1</sup>.

Starting with the notion that a thing must be cognizable to be real, Dharmakīrti goes on to say that in order to share the capacity to cause cognition, an object must be impermanent since only what is subject to change has the capacity to produce effects. A good example of how he used this line of reasoning can be found at PV 1:23-30 where he is arguing against the existence of an eternal creator. The essence of his argument goes as follows: whatever participates as a causal factor in the production of an effect undergoes observable changes in nature, just like the soil and so forth undergo transformations when they serve as a cause of a seedling's arising since the seedling's attributes are observed in the soil's constitution (PV 1:27). But since by definition eternal things such as God cannot undergo any change, they cannot have causal efficiency, and the universe cannot have been created by an eternal deity. And this argument applies to causality in general; hence the thesis that whatever is real has causal efficiency and is impermanent. But by impermanent, Dharmakīrti docs not only mean that the object will eventually cease to exist. More radically, he means that it ceases to exist at the very moment that it comes into existence, for if it remained unchanged only for a moment this would suggest that during the time that it remained unchanged the object lacked the capacity to produce an effect and was in fact not real at all. Reality, for Dharmakīrti, is therefore the causally efficient moment<sup>2</sup>.

yat sat tat kşaņikam eva, akşaņikatve 'rthakriyā-virodhāt tal-lakşaņani vastutvam hīyate (HB 4.6-7).

Whatever exists lasts but a moment. Since the production of an effect is absent in that which is not momentary, it lacks reality, which is characterized by that

 $\sqrt{2}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Accordingly, all references to the criterion of efficiency found in this chapter refer to this capacity to cause cognition. The other aspect of efficiency as applicable to human purposes will be dealt with in the next chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For an interesting account of Dharmakīrti's defense of the doctrine of momentariness, see Gupta 1980.

[production of an effect].

This moment of causal efficiency is called a particular in Dharmakīrti's system; it is the object of sensation. In her PhD thesis on the topic, Christine Keyt (1980) distinguished two types of particular—whether it be the object of externally or internally directed sensations—and argued that for Dharmakīrti a particular, as object of sensory cognition, is an external entity capable of generating a vivid representation or image of itself in the mind of the cognizer. Her claim is supported by the following verse:

#### grāhyatām viduh

ç

hetutvam eva yuktijñā jñānâkārârpaņa-kşamam (PV II:247bd).

Philosophers know that a real object is unique in being a cause capable to leave its image in cognition.

Keyt went on to show that this efficient entity is in fact an aggregate of more primitive components, the atoms of Dharmakīrti's system; atoms that are very small, but not imperceptible in principle. Moreover, these atoms are qualitative in character inasmuch as there are atoms of colour, taste, etc., which, when aggregated, determine the shape, size and colour of visible objects, for example. It must be remembered, however, that it is only when such an aggregate is capable of stimulating the senses that it is worthy of the appellation "particular". Before that point, we have no awareness of it whatsoever and its existence, as well as that of individual atoms which are not apprehensible through sensation, can only be inferred.

With this distinction between the atom and the particular as an aggregate of atoms, Keyt is directly challenging the view of Theodore Stcherbatsky who, fifty years before her, had claimed that the cognition of extended bodies (or aggregations of atoms) is a sense-illusion because extension is a conceptual construct and never a reflex. He went on to say that, "The unity of a body, the unity of its parts consisting of a multitude of various atoms, will be an illusion, just as the perception of one forest at a distance instead of the variety of trees of which it is composed is an illusion" (Stcherbatsky 1932, 157). As Keyt (186-92) has shown, however, Stcherbatsky's argument, which led him to coin the expression "mathematical point-instant" to the object of sensory cognition, is a misapplication of Dharmakīrti's theory on the formation of concepts. According to Dharmakīrti, concepts are an imposition of a category on a series of mental events, and without the existence of such a sequence of mental events there cannot be any concept-formation (cf section 2.2.4). But since complex objects such as a visual form are cognized at once, not sequentially but simultancously, it is wrong to say that the cognition of extended bodies is the result of conceptual activity (Hattori 1968, 26-7; 90 notes 40-1). Besides, were the cognitions of extended bodies conceptual cognitions, even the most primitive cognitions such as seeing, hearing, etc., could not be regarded as instances of sensation. And in fact no cognition whatsoever could be regarded as sensory cognitions since we are never directly aware of single atoms, i.e. of non-complex objects. Keyt's claim that the object of sensory cognition is an aggregate of atomic particles (or qualities) is therefore a welcome correction to Stcherbatsky's interpretation, for it better reflects Dharmakīrti's general epistemological theory.

Another factor which indirectly supports Keyt's position is that the threshold of sensibility that is reached when the aggregate acquires causal efficiency varies with the proximity of the object to the senses<sup>3</sup>. Indeed we find that forms, odours and sounds



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>NB 1:13: yasya arthasya samnidhānāsamnidhānābhyām jñāna-pratibhāsa-bhedas tat svalakṣaṇam (The object whose appearance in the cognition varies according to proximity or nonproximity [to the senses] is a particular.).

become less distinguishable as they are farther away from the observer, while tastes and touches require actual contact, which is a limiting case of proximity, to be cognized at all. Moreover, since from the observer's point of view it is because the size of the object diminishes as distance increases—or as intensity of contact increases, in the case of tastes and touches—that an object has or lacks causal efficiency, size (or extension) is a factor that facilitates sensory cognition. For unless the object has a certain size relative to the observer, it will not be sensed. When we apply this reasoning to a single atom, we find that individually and independently of its distance to the sense organ, the atom is too small and lacks the power to cause cognition. Therefore, individual atoms are not the objects of sensory cognition; only aggregates whose size is sufficient to stimulate the sense organs are real objects of sensory cognition. Also, because sensory cognition arises at once, at the very moment that the object has reached this threshold of efficiency, aggregations of atoms, as objects of sensory cognition, are not mental constructs.

To summarize, the object of sensory cognition is a momentary aggregate of atoms that is capable of producing a vivid mental image. As a valid means of knowing, sensory cognition is none other than the process by which this mental representation or prototype is produced when the sense organs are stimulated by their respective objects.

#### 2.2 Mental sensation

Dharmakīrti's account of sensory cognition is relatively easy to follow since it more or less corresponds to the function of providing raw cognitive data that we normally attribute to our five physical senses. The situation becomes much more complicated,

however, when we move to the second type of sensation discussed in his system: mental sensation. In fact, mental sensation has been a subject of controversy in the Buddhist epistemological school ever since Dignāga introduced it in PS.

It is possible that Dignaga envisioned the possibility that the mind be able to directly grasp mental objects after having considered how the five physical senses directly grasp external objects, and after acknowledging the fact that the activity of the senses is quite insignificant cognitively unless the information that they provide becomes the object of attention. If this is indeed how he looked into the matter of cognition, Dignaga would have advanced the intermediary category of mental sensation to fill the gap between the physical and the conceptual aspects of knowledge, as Stcherbatsky has suggested (1932, 205). Mental activity would therefore consist not only in the drawing of inferences, but primarily also in the direct knowledge, or sensation, of mental phenomena. In other words, while the physical senses are only capable of participating in sensation, the mind is now capable of both sensation and inference. But regardless of what led Dignaga to advance such theory, it is clear that he recognized mental sensation to be a valid means of knowing. His inquiry into the matter further led him to claim that mental sensation possesses two co-extensive functions: the awareness of the mental object, and self-awareness of the cognitive character of every moment of awareness.

mānasam cārtha-rāgādi-svasamvittir akalpikā (PS I:6ab).

There is also mental [perception which consists of] the awareness of an object and self-awareness [in such forms as] passion and the like, [both of which are] free from conceptual construction (Nagatomi 1979, 254).

### 2.2.1 Object of mental sensation

According to Nagatomi (1979, 256), Dharmakīrti's account of mental sensation is quite faithful to Dignāga's. If we take it step by step, Dharmakīrti is saying that sensation as a whole proceeds in the following manner: First there is a stimulation of any one of the five physical senses by its corresponding object. This stage amounts to what we would explain today in terms of physiological processes and neuro-chemical reactions. It produces a mental image of the external stimulus, which image in turn enables mental sensation in the second moment of the cognitive experience when attention is turned to the sensory impression. Unless attention is given to this mental image, the cognitive experience stops at that level and we cannot speak of knowledge, not even sensory knowledge. That is to say, unless attention is aroused, a given sensory cognition is not an efficient and reliable cognition and cannot be regarded as knowledge.

If the sensory cognition is successful, however, mental sensation necessarily occurs and the controversies begin. At this point, the difficulty lies in the fact that there does not seem to be a sufficient ground on which to distinguish the object apprehended by the mind from the one apprehended by the physical senses. And if the two objects are the same, then mental sensation cannot be regarded as a valid source of knowledge since it lacks direct epistemic access to its object which has already been cognized by the senses. As Dharmottara pointed out (Stcherbatsky 1930, 28), it appears that the only situation in which it would be justified to postulate the occurrence of a genuine case of mental sensation would be if the physical sense, after cognizing its object, ceased to function with respect to that aggregation of atoms in the moment immediately following the initial sensation, so that mental sensation would become necessary for the completion of the cognitive process. Yet, it is a matter of common experience that under most conditions the external object of sensory cognition, while momentary, continues to manifest itself in the form of an object-continuum which efficiently provokes a second and a third sensory cognition. For example, when I see a shape which I later identify as a chair, I do not see the particular shape only for a moment and then have a sensory cognition of empty space in the subsequent moments, which would require me to rely on a purely mental image to identify the object initially cognized. Instead, the shape continues to make its impression on my senses as long as I look at it and until I turn away or someone takes it away from my sight, etc. So since (if) the senses continue to function with respect to a given object-continuum, why not resign ourselves to call this cognition a sensory cognition instead of a mental sensation? On the other hand, if it is proven that the object of mental sensation is sufficiently different from that of sensory cognition to avoid the above criticisms, how are we to explain the incapacity of a blind person to overcome the defect in her physical organs by seeing colours and shapes with her mind?

Dharmakīrti addresses these objections—which the author of the  $Ny\bar{a}yabindu$ tippanī attributes to Kumārila (Gangopadhyaya 104, note 26)—in verses 239-48 of PV II. There he explains that the object of mental sensation is not what has already been grasped by the senses, but that it is instead an image of the sensory object formed in the moment immediately following the contact of the senses with their respective objects<sup>4</sup>. In other words, if we remember that the most instrumental cause for knowing an object is the appearance that it takes in consciousness so that it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This all takes place, of course, in one stream of consciousness, for a situation in which the object of mental sensation would be the image produced in the mind of another person—that is, in a different stream of consciousness—, would be labelled as a case of yogic intuition, not mental sensation (Gangopadhyaya 105, note 26).

the mental image that results from the contact of the senses with their objects that deserves the label "sensory cognition", the object of mental sensation is none other than the sensory cognition itself, when attention is given to it<sup>5</sup>. The violation of the criterion of novelty is thus refuted since mental sensation is not causally dependent only on an aggregation of atoms as its object, but it is instead the result of both the aggregated continuum and its repeated cognition by the senses. That is to say, the external continuum still serves as the support of cognition, but the involvement of the senses as a secondary cause produces a change in consciousness that manifests itself in the form of a mental object different from the external aggregate alone. Having different causes from those of the object of sensory cognition—which is non-mental—, the object of mental sensation is necessarily different from it in at least one respect: it is mental. By the same token, the possibility of mental sensation by one whose sense organs are damaged is rejected, since it is exclusively upon the arising of a successful sensory cognition of a visual, auditive, olfactive, gustative or tactile stimulus by wellfunctioning physical senses that attention can be given to the mental image of such external objects and give rise to mental sensation. The gist of Dharmakīrti's argument against his critics reads as follows:

tasmād indriya-vijňānânantara-pratyayôdbhavam mano 'nyam eva gṛhṇāti viśayam nândhadṛk tataḥ (PV II:243).

Accordingly, mental sensation that arises from sensory cognition as its immediately preceding cause apprehends an object very different [from the object of sensory cognition]. Consequently, the blind person has no visual cognition [of objects].



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It is important to note here that it is not attention as an entity that is turned to the sensory cognition. Rather, attention is a by-product of the sensory cognition that is successful and strong enough to produce a mental image of its stimulus. As we shall see below, attention is only one of two aspects of mental activity. It corresponds to the cognitive aspect; the other being the objective aspect.

According to Dharmakīrti, therefore, sensory cognition grasps the sense data directly, while mental sensation grasps them indirectly through a mental image; that is, by means of sensory cognition. This mental image, however, is directly apprehended by mental sensation. In fact, it is only at this stage of mental sensation that we can speak of knowledge, for sensory cognition itself does not always awaken consciousness. As a matter of fact, as soon as consciousness, or attention, is awakened, we no longer speak of sensory cognition, but rather of mental sensation. Consequently, it is sensory cognition that is the object of knowledge, and not the aggregated atoms which can only be inferred as a cause of sensory cognition is itself inferred in the following manner: since I now have an experience of colour, I must have had a sensory cognition of that colour a moment before, which must have itself been caused by the presence of an aggregate of atoms of that colour in my ken. Our most primitive form of knowledge is therefore mental sensation, whose particular object of attention is the preceeding sensory cognition.

It must be emphasized, however, that the object of mental sensation is not a continuum of sensory cognitions, but rather a single sensory cognition. That is, one mental sensation does not take a series of sensory cognitions as its object. Instead, a mental sensation arises after each moment of sensory cognition. That this is the case is evidenced at a certain stage in the practice of  $vipaśyan\bar{a}$  meditation, especially the mindfulness of the body, when attention is so sharp that one notices the evanescent nature of matter (and sensation) as well as that of the mind that cognizes it. We will

45

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Hence the claim that Dharmakīrti was a phenomenalist. Had he been a realist, his theory would make it possible for us to have conscious knowledge of the aggregations of atoms themselves. Had he been an idealist, the object of mental sensation would not be derived from external aggregations of atoms, but would rather be pure mental creations.

discuss this meditation technique in more detail in the next chapter.

## 2.2.2 Twofold nature of mental sensation

The most important point to be made about mental sensation, however, is not that its object is a sensory cognition. Rather, it is the fact that every moment of awareness possesses two aspects, one objective the other cognitive, and that these two aspects are revealed by the power of the mental event itself, not by a subsequent moment of awareness. In that sense, we can compare awareness to the activity of a lamp, for just as a lamp reveals the objects in its surrounding as well as its capacity to radiate light without requiring the presence of a second lamp, every awareness reveals its content and its cognitive nature by its own power<sup>7</sup>. In other words, for every cognition A there are two aspects  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  such that  $a_1$  is the form, object or content of the cognition (that is, sensory cognition) and  $a_2$  is the cognitive element or attention that cognizes  $a_1$ . The presence of the cognitive element  $a_2$  is explained by the fact that every mental event is self-luminous. Thus  $a_1$  being self-luminous, we have the impression that a cognitive element  $a_2$  cognizes an objective element  $a_1$ . But this cognitive impression being itself a mental event, it is also self-liminous so that we have the impression not only that  $a_2$  knows  $a_1$ , but also that  $a_2$  knows itself as a cognizer of  $a_1$ . For example, in the cognition of blue, not only does one know "blue", but one also knows that there is a cognition of "blue". As Bimal Krishna Matilal explained, the only way for these two knowledges to be different is if one cognition has both an objective and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that awareness is analogous, not identical to the activity of a lamp. For indeed, while it is an observer who sees the objects revealed by the lamp as well as the lamp itself, there is no such observer in the case of mental phenomena which are aware of themselves. The difference is that the lamp reveals itself to the observer, while a mental event reveals itself to itself. Were the Buddhists to admit the existence of a soul which apprehends the presence of cognitive events, the example of the lamp would be much closer to mental activity than it is meant here.



تىر ئەر يەرىخەت

#### cognitive aspect.

In my awareness of blue I can distinguish between its two aspects, the blueaspect and the cognition-aspect, of which the latter grasps the former. If the same event has also self-awareness, then this self-awareness aspect is to be distinguished from the cognition-aspect in that the self-awareness aspect picks out the cognition-aspect as distinguished by the blue-aspect while the cognitionaspect picks out the blue-aspect only. Now, if instead of the dual aspect, my awareness had only one aspect, either the blue-aspect or the cognition-aspect, then the awareness of the awareness, the self-awareness, would be indistinguishable from the awareness itself (Matilal 1986c, 76).

We must therefore speak of mental activity as having an "object-cognizing" aspect by which we mean that attention is given to mental objects, as well as a "selfcognizing" aspect which refers to the awareness of the cognition of the mental object (the cognition of the cognitive aspect of the mental phenomenon). Dignāga put it as follows:

dvy-ābhāsam hi jñānam utpadyate, svâbhāsam viṣayâbhāsam ca. tasyôbhayâbhāsasya yat sva-samvedanam [text: samvedanam] tat phalam (PVS I:9a).

Every cognition is produced with a twofold appearance, namely, that of itself [as subject] ( $sv\hat{a}bh\bar{a}sa$ ) and that of the object ( $visay\hat{a}bh\bar{a}sa$ ). The cognizing of itself as [possessing] these two appearances or the self-cognition (svasanvitti) is the result [of the cognitive act] (Hattori 1968, 28).

It is by means of this twofold character of cognition that Dharmakīrti accounts for the direct knowledge of our various emotions which, at least at the initial moment of their occurences, are just as vivid—and thus non-conceptual, since vividness and conceptuality are mutually exclusive—as the visual cognition of the colour blue, for example. Indeed, since in addition to being directly accessible, the emotional reaction that is associated with a given mental image is never mistaken inasmuch as joy is obviously manifested as joy and pain as pain, the cognition of emotions had to be included as a case of sensation. Yet, because sensory cognition does not operate beyond the initial stage of the cognitive process where the senses come in contact with the external world, it would have been inappropriate to assign the direct cognition of emotions to sensory cognition (Nagatomi 1979, 258). Accordingly, it is at the level of mental sensation that the cognition of emotions had to be explained. And Dharmakīrti argued that emotion is the form in which the cognitive aspect of awareness manifests itself when it apprehends its object. It is therefore the self-cognizing element of mental sensation that can account for the awareness of the whole range of emotions.

Dharmakīrti writes:

tasmāt sukhâdayo 'rthānām svasamkrāntāvabhāsinām vedakah svâtmanas caisam arthebhyo janma kevala (PV II:266). arthâtmā svâtma-bhūto hi tesām tair anubhūyate tenârthânubhava-khyātir ālambas tu tadābhātā (PV II:267).

[266] Accordingly, pleasure and so forth are conscious (1) of themselves as well as (2) of the objects that (cognitively) manifest (their own images) transposed onto them: they (viz. pleasure and so forth) originate only from their own objects. [267] The very object of these (sensations such as pleasure and so forth) is none other than (an aspect of) themselves: (hence) the former is directly experienced by the latter. It is to this effect that (conventional) mention is made of the 'direct experience of the object (by sensation)' (only in a figurative sense). But (ultimately) the object ( $\bar{a}$ lambana) means (the cognition's) manifestation in that (form) (Nagatomi 1979, 257-8).

In addition to clarify how we cognize emotions, these two verses also serve to support the argument that Dharmakīrti never really intended (at least in PV) to draw a radical distinction between the two aspects of mental sensation as representing two kinds of sensation. Where such a distinction is made—and Dharmakīrti makes it himself in a later work—, mental sensation is limited to the awareness of the object-aspect (i.e. of sensory cognition), while the cognition of the cognition-aspect is associated with self-awareness and stands by itself as a type of sensation. It is at NB I:6–10 that Dharmakīrti takes this position where he says that there are four categories of sensation and goes on to discuss sensory cognition, mental sensation, self-awareness and yogic intuition as if mental sensation and self-awareness were unrelated. In PV, however, there is no explicit statement to that effect and verses 266-7, above, are even hinting at the contrary position that there is a definite connection between object-cognition and self-awareness since one cannot go without the other. It could be argued, therefore, that Dharmakīrti originally intended simply to elucidate the object-cognizing and cognition- or self-cognizing aspects of mental sensation, and that his separate discussions in NB of the object-cognizing aspect of mental sensation qua mental sensation without any explicit attempt to connect it with self-awareness may be due to his belief that the relation between the two was too obvious to justify the addition of another verse to his already cryptic treatise (Nagatomi 1979, 258). His confidence in the wit of future students to catch the obvious in Dignāga's and his own works, or his misunderstanding of Dignāga's verse altogether—a verse that clearly establishes a relation between the two aspects (cf page 41)—, certainly contributed to the confusion.

Another reason why I believe that Dharmakīrti argued that the awareness of the mental object and the awareness of the cognitive act are part of every act of attention as opposed to being two types of mental activities dissociated one from the other is the fact that he subscribed to phenomenalism. In fact, when we consider that for him the object-cognizing aspect is nothing else than the awareness taking the appearance of an object, while self-awareness is simply the awareness taking the appearance or role of a cognizing agent apprehending the object, we get the impression that these two aspects are only an imposition of conceptual categories on a single moment of awareness. In other words, if these are only appearances, they are only provisionally true, and a genuine moment of mental sensation is limited to awareness before the slightest distinction be drawn between the object of attention and the cognition that serves as an agent apprehending it. Thus it could very well be that Dharmakīrti

separately discussed the objective and cognitive/agentive aspects of mental sensation only in order to show that the dichotomy object-cognitive agent springs from a single source and that there is ultimately no justification for our habit of positing a cognizing agent as separate from the object of cognition. That is not to say that it is wrong to have the impression that every mental event has an objective and a cognitive/agentive appearance, and in fact one of the intentions of Dharmakīrti may also have been to show that these two aspects are very much real since every cognition is inevitably a cognition of a content. Yet, even if he admitted their ultimate existence, it is likely that he had a higher purpose in mind: that of showing that it is wrong to break them apart and hypostatize, on that basis, the reality of a separate field of fleeting objects to be cognized by an isolated and unchanging agent or self, the pursuit of which has become the object of many a religious practice.

Arguing in this way that Dharmakīrti's analysis of mental sensation was aimed at disproving the reality of an enduring self may be putting words in his mouth. Nevertheless, it is clear that his theory can be used for that purpose if only because it does not contradict the theory of non-self. It is clear that his theory accomplished much more than explaining human psychology since, if we take the object-cognizing and self-cognizing aspects of mental sensation to arise out of a single act of attention, as is suggested by his claim that the instrument, object and result of knowledge are the same, it can also be used to resolve the dichotomy self-other that is at the basis of the belief in an enduring self which, according to Buddhist doctrine, is the root of all suffering. Why we have the impression that there is an unchanging agent observing all of our cognitions is due, according to Dharmakīrti's theory, to the fact that every act of attention is self-luminous and reveals a cognitive aspect that apprehends an objective aspect. Simply, what is other is the hypostatization of the objective aspect of mental events, while the self is none other than the hypostatization of their cognitive/agentive aspect. In other words, every cognition having two self-luminous elements, one that takes the appearance of an object and another that takes the appearance of a cognitive agent, focusing on the object-appearance leads to the impression that a cognitive agent cognizes a separate object, while focusing on that cognitive agent gives the impression that something else is cognizing the cognition of an object. It is that "something else", the fact that every cognition is self-luminous, that misleads us into believing in the existence of a permanent observer, an enduring self. For while the content of our cognitions changes at all moments, the cognitive element of every act of attention is ever present in the form of an agent. That is, while the objective aspect of mental events manifests itself in different forms, the cognitive aspect always manifests itself in the form of a cognizer—though with different emotions. Were it not for the fact that there is ultimately no difference between the arising of the mental object and the arising of the cognitive agent, there would be ground on which to argue for the existence of an unchanging self separate from mental phenomena. However, according to Dharmakīrti's theory, both object and subject spring from the same source, a mental event, and are therefore non-different. And since that event is impermanent, the cognitive aspect is only a disguised self.

Dharmakīrti's analysis of mental sensation as a valid means of knowing having a twofold appearance thus represents an alternative method for the defense of the nonself theory of the Buddhists. This method may have more to do with dogmatism than epistemology, however, especially when we consider that even one of his successors, Dharmottara, admitted that the object-cognizing aspect of mental sensation could not be legitimately proven and that it was instead a case of dogmatism on the part of his predecessors (Stcherbatsky 1930, 28). Then again, one should not readily blame

Dharmakīrti, when the fault may lie in Dharmottara's intellectual limitations or in the fact that he may have suscribed to idealism more than to phenomenalism.

#### 2.2.3 On knowing knowledge

As mentioned above, self-awareness turned out to be a useful tool in the hands of the Buddhists in their ontological debate with the followers of Brahmanic traditions over the existence of an eternal soul. In terms of epistemology, however, self-awareness was an answer to the question of how we can be aware of knowledge. For unless we become aware of our cognition of blue, for example, that cognition is completely useless and can hardly be regarded as an instance of knowledge. Hence the question: how do we know knowledge? Three alternative answers were advanced by Indian philosophers: (1) When an awareness arises, it apprehends not only its object, but it apprehends itself as well; (2) it apprehends only its object and another awareness is necessary to apprehend it in retrospect; (3) not only is a subsequent awareness required, but it grasps the first moment of awareness only indirectly through inference. Another aspect of this problem is whether every cognition is necessarily cognized, or whether some may arise and fade away without being noticed at all. Dharmakīrti, as we saw above, held the view that knowledge is self-luminous and that no cognition is left uncognized. The Advaitins, Jains and Prabhakara Mimamsakas subscribed to the same interpretation, although their motivations and arguments were different from Dharmakīrti's. The Nyāya, Sāmkhya-yoga and Bhatta Mīmāmsa schools replied that knowledge is known by a secondary cognition and not by itself, since the nature of knowledge is to illuminate its object, not itself<sup>8</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For a short and illuminating presentation of the position of various Indian schools of philosophy with regard to the question of how we know knowledge, see Maitra 1974, 162-5.



Dignāga's main argument in favor of self-awareness was connected with an attempt to explain recollection, namely the fact that recollection is not only of the object previously cognized, but also of the cognition itself. This line of reasoning was in fact mainly used to proclaim the objective and cognitive aspects of every mental event as discussed above. Nevertheless, it also served to advance the theory of self-awareness since, according to Dignāga, in the case that a cognition is cognized by a separate cognitive event we cannot avoid the consequence of an infinite regress for that separate cognition will need to have itself cognized and so on and so forth to the point that one would never be aware of the present cognition of "blue", for example, since the remaining of one's life would have to be spent to cognize the cognition that cognized the cognition ... that cognized the cognition of the object. But if every cognition is self-evidenced, or self-aware, the problem is solved, argued Dignaga. In fact, to really avoid infinite regress, it was argued that the cognition knows itself before it knows the object. For this reason, the form of knowledge belongs not to the object, but to the cognition itself (Rani 168), as the whole theory of mental sensation intends to show. The Naiyāyikas were quick to reply, however, that the nature of cognition is not self-awareness but cognition of other (the object), and that the memory of a cognitive event does not entail that the cognition be self-cognized, but simply that it be cognized. Moreover, the recollection of having had a given experience of blue, in addition to the recollection of the blue colour itself, may well be the result of an inference that the experience of blue must have taken place since the fact, blue, is remembered. And so we may dispense with self-awareness. Finally, since not every cognition need be cognized and since one further cognition is sufficient to know the cognition of "blue"—that second cognition not requiring confirmation—it is wrong to accuse us, say the Naiyāyikas, of holding a view leading to infinite regress.

When Dharmakīrti entered into the debate, he therefore had to take an approach totally different from Dignäga's. His argument for self-awareness is tied to the idea that there is ultimately no distinction between the apprehensible object and the apprehending cognition—a theme that comes back again and again whenever he has to face the music—, and that the only way to account for their apparent distinction is to admit that cognition is self-luminous by nature. His argument at PVin 55 is summarized by Matilal (1986c, 77) as follows:

The non-difference of the apprehensible object and the apprehending subject (the cognition itself) is established by the *hetu*, i.e. the evidence that these two are always, invariably and necessarily apprehended together. Hence their difference is only a convenient myth, a matter of convention only. The self-awareness of a cognition is established because even the perception of an object cannot be established otherwise for him who does not have the perception of that perception.

But the Naiyāyikas did not agree that the object and its experience are always cognized together. Certainly, an object must be experienced prior to its being remembered, but it is not necessary that this experience be itself cognized prior to the memory (NBh 136ff). In reply to Dharmakīrti, the Naiyāyikas thus used the same argument as they had used against Dignāga—that all cognitions need not be cognized—so that the debate did not make any progress because of their dogmatism. Dharmakīrti's commentators, however, took their share of dogmatism since we can hardly call their arguments in defense of self-awareness arguments. For example, Prajñākaragupta contented hir self with saying that while some entities need two illuminators to have themselves cognized (e.g. a pot needs light and the visual organ), and others need only one (e.g. a lamp needs the visual organ only), cognitions need no illuminators other than themselves (Matilal 1986c, 79). Śāntarakṣita did no better since his argument is limited to saying that a cognition does not depend on anything other than

•

itself to make itself known (TS 2012). How we know knowledge is therefore an issue over which we cannot declare a winner among Indian philosophers. All that we can conclude is that Dharmakīrti and his followers held that cognitions, whether conceptual or not, are self-luminous inasmuch as they do not require another moment of awareness in order to have themselves cognized. In other words, every awareness is self-evident inasmuch as there is direct and unquestionable knowledge of the object of mental activity and of the presence or occurence of the mental event all at once. For example, although it may be questioned whether it is really a man that I see in the dark, there is no doubt that I see something and that there is an act of seeing on my part, and I do not need someone else or a subsequent cognition to bring me to this evidence. Every cognition or moment of awareness therefore reveals by its own power both its content and the fact of its being a cognitive event.

## 2.2.4 Perceptual judgement: result of mental sensation

The final question to be addressed with regard to mental sensation concerns its result. As Katsura (1984, 226) has argued, Dharmakīrti recognized at least three types of conceptual knowledge among which only inference and verbal communication (by means of which we can infer the intention of the speaker) were accepted as valid means of knowing. But while it is not given the status of a valid means of knowing, the third type of conceptual knowledge is perhaps the most important of the three for it is how Dharmakīrti was able to fill the gap between the two radically distinct forms of knowledge (sensation and inference) and explain the progression from the nonconceptual to the conceptual. Stcherbatsky (1932, 211) called this important step "perceptual judgement"; it is the judgement that immediately follows a successful mental sensation. And it is not until that judgement arises, in the third mornent of sensation after sensory cognition and mental sensation, that the process of direct knowledge is completed.

This judgement, according to PS I:3d, is "the association of name (nāman), genus  $(j\bar{a}ti)$ , etc. [with a thing perceived, which results in verbal designation of the thing]" (Hattori 1968, 25). Dharmakīrti later enlarged this definition to englobe even unverbalized concepts when he wrote at NBI:5: "a judgement is a cognition the representation of which is capable of association with verbal designation"<sup>9</sup>. A perceptual judgement is therefore a conceptual process which eventually results in assigning a predicate to the object of attention in the form "This is such and such"; a predicate which will in all circumstances belong to either one of the following five linguistic classes: (1) proper names, such as "Devadatta"; (2) genus, such as "cowhood"; (3) quality, such as "white"; (4) action, such as "to cook"; and (5) substance, such as "staff-bearer" (Hattori 1968, 25). This predication arises as a result of the intellect's attentiveness to the mental image; that is to say, as a result of mental sensation which is sufficient to start the mechanism of concept-formation that culminates in the application of names and the drawing of inferences (Stcherbatsky 1932, 205). It must be noted, however, that as the successful result of sensation, the perceptual judgement is not itself a sensation because it makes use of concepts of which all sensations are free. Neither is it a source of knowledge since unlike inference it grasps what has already been grasped (PVI:5ab) by mental sensation. But while having no real epistemological value, its role in the cognitive process is not negligible since it is only after the perceptual judgement has arisen that purposeful action toward the stimulus can be undertaken. In fact, it is depending on their capacity to fulfill purposes that

ij

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>NB I:5: abhilāpa-samsarga-yogya-pratibhāsā pratītiņ kalpanā.

we will distinguish between deceitful, erroneous judgements on the one hand, and reliable judgements on the other. That is to say, a judgement is reliable if it leads to successful action or to valid inference. The reliable judgement is what we call perceptual judgement, which is a conventional piece of knowledge insofar as it consists in imposing universal characteristics on a series of particulars (PV 1:7d-8a), and also so far as it leads to the fulfilment of desires, the presence of which is a sign of delusion according to Buddhist doctrine.

How does this secondary apprehension of particulars occur? First, according to Dharmakīrti perceptual judgements and concepts in general do not and cannot have any connection whatsoever with the object of sensory cognition. But not only do they not refer to the fleeting aggregation of atoms, they also do not refer to the object of mental sensation, or at least not directly. Were it directly connected with the object of sensation, a concept or word would mean whatever object with which it was first associated and could not refer to similar objects experienced at a later time (PV III:92). Also, one could not speak of the objects of the past or future since the words and concepts would have no meaning in the absence of their referents at the time they are used (PV II:34 and 39). Finally, in case a genuine connection between words and objects existed, one would experience objects being spoken about as vividly as if they were present (PVSV 207.3-5). Let us consider in more detail this latter argument which, at PV II:127cd-32, follows from the theory that a relation, to be valid, must meet at least two criteria: association and dissociation. Briefly, a relation of causality of the type "A causes B", for example, is justified only if B is present whenever A is present (association), and if B is absent whenever A is absent (dissociation). But as Dharmakīrti shows, these criteria are not met in the case of the relation between universal properties—which are linguistic in nature—and particulars, for otherwise a vivid appearance of an object would result from the simple uttering of its name. It is well known, however, that one does not become warm merely upon saying the word "fire", and we can infer from the non-observation of the effect of fire (i.e. heat) that the cause, fire itself, is not present. Furthermore, from the absence of a particular fire we infer the absence of all of its effects. But since the word and concept "fire" is present, it cannot be the effect of the particular fire which is absent. Similarly, if there were a causal relation between particulars and judgements, so that concepts and words would refer to particulars and would in fact inhere in particulars, it would be impossible to ever sense something without naming it, even if we had never seen or heard of the object before. Moreover, in case such a relation existed, it would follow that even a blind man, for example, would see an object upon hearing its name. But the fact that we often do not know the name or function of an object, and that blindness exists among those who can hear words show that an invariable relation between words and objects is not real. Dharmakīrti writes:

na višeşeşu śabdānām pravṛttāv asti srmbhavaḥ (PV II:127cd). an-anvayāt višeşāņām sanketasyâpravṛttitaḥ vişayo yaś ca śabdānām sanyojyeta sa eva taiḥ (PV II:128). asyedam iti sambandhe yāv arthau pratibhāsinau tayor eva hi sambandho na tadendriya-gocaraḥ (PV II:129). višada-pratibhāsasya tadârthasya avibhāvanāt vijnānâbhāsa-bhedo hi padârthānām višeṣakaḥ (PV II:130). cakṣuṣā 'rthâvabhāse 'pi yam paro 'syeti śamsati saḥ eva yojyate śabdaiḥ na khalu indriya-gocaraḥ (PV II:131). a-vyāpṛtendriyasyânya-vān-mātreṇâvibhāvanāt na cân-udita-sambandhaḥ svayam jñāna-prasaṅgataḥ (PV II:132).

[127cd] It is not possible to use words with respect to particulars. [128] Conventions are useless because they have no association to particulars, and [because of this] only the subject matter of words can be connected to words. [129] Indeed, when [we establish] the relation "this is [the name] of this [object]", the relation is only between those two imagined things and consequently is not within the scope of the senses [130] since at that time [of naming] there is no perception of an object having a clear appearance. So because the distinguishing mark of things is the different form [they produce] in consciousness, [the object of sen-

Ę.

sory and verbal cognition are not the same]. [131] Even when there is perception of an object by the eye, only that which another person says [belongs] to it is connected with words. It is certainly not the object of the senses [132] since one whose senses are not functioning does not perceive [a particular] merely through the words of another [person]. And it is not the case that [the word that conveys information] does not have its relation [between the expression and the expressed object] produced, for [otherwise] the consequence [would be that the object] is known by itself [just from hearing the word, independently of any conventions].

So because of the lack of association and dissociation between concepts and particulars, we must conclude as Dharmakīrti did at PV II:5-6 that universals and all the categories of words cannot be invariably connected to the particular and are nothing else but social conventions.

sāsti sarvatra ced buddher nānvaya-vyatirekayoņ sāmānya-lakṣaṇa 'dṛṣṭeḥ cakṣū-rūpâdi-buddhivat (PV II:5). etena samayâbhogâdy-antar-aṅgânurodhataḥ ghaṭôtkṣepaṇ sāmānya-saṁkhyâdiṣu dhiyo gatāḥ (PV II:6).

[5] One might think that [the causal potential] exists everywhere, [but] it is not present in the universal because of the idea's lack of association and dissociation as [can be observed] in the cognition of such things as colour through the eye.
[6] [Accordingly,] the cognitions associated with such things as pots, lifting, universals, numbers and so forth are arrived at because of the mind's conformity with conventions, surrounding and so forth.

So what do judgements refer to and how do they occur? As it is spelled out in Dharmakīrti's theory of language, concepts denote properties abstracted from the particular by disregarding differences and amplifying similarities. More specifically, a perceptual judgement arises first as a result of superimposing unity upon a series of distinct mental sensations by disregarding their evanescent nature and overemphasizing the fact that they have similar causes, i.e. by focusing on the fact that each sensory cognition of which mental sensation is aware arises as a result of a contact of the senses with similar aggregations of atoms moment after moment. In addition to making generalizations, the formation of concepts and the application of names

ŵ,

function on the principle of exclusion of the opposite (anyapoha), that opposite being whatever has a different function from what is observed because it possesses a different sct of causes (Katsura 1991, 143). So for example, the word or concept "cow" refers to what is not a non-cow. The identification and exclusion of opposite general qualities and functions being a conceptual activity, judgements therefore refer to nothing else but judgements (i.e. exclusion of others), and a word is simply the association of a sound with that particular judgement. And since concepts themselves make use of words, we find that concepts arise on the basis of linguistic conventions, and linguistic conventions are themselves based on concepts: the two are in a mutually supporting relation (Payne 269). But if concepts are based on words and words on concepts, how are we to explain the first association of a concept with a word and vice-versa? If we take the example of a youth learning a first language, we may think that a given concept is progressively formed on the basis of repeatedly hearing a word and associating it with an object of sensation. Alternatively, if we take the example of one learning a second language, a new word will be associated with a given concept by the same process of repeatedly hearing the new word at the appropriate time. But this, according to Dharmakīrti, does not explain the process adequately. He says instead that perceptual judgements have their origin in beginningless past impressions<sup>10</sup>.

So because they designate only some aspects of the particular and because they vary according to the inclination (i.e. past impressions) of the perceiver (Katsura 1984, 226), perceptual judgements are indirect and partial forms of knowledge. For

60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>PVSV 208.1: padārtha-anāśritya-utpadyamānā vikalpā sva-vāsanā-prakŗtim anuvidadhatī (A judgement is arising without any connection to the object, [but] is [instead] conforming to our own past impressions as its root causes). Śāntarakṣita elaborated at TS 1216: atīta-bhava-nāmârthabhāvanā-vāsanānvayāt. sadyojāto 'apy adyogād iti karttavya tāpaṭuḥ (Through the continuance of the impression left by the constant associating of the thing and its name during past lives, —even the new-born infant becomes capable of activity, by reason of the said conceptual content (Jha 1937-9, 616)).

example, a lustful man may consider a woman as an object of his passion, a monk may regard her as a disgusting piece of decomposing matter, and a dog may see in her an occasion to fill its stomach (Katsura 1984, 226). Because judgements of this kind have absolutely nothing to do with the reality of the particular, but are instead the result of the perceiver's dispositions, perceptual judgements and judgements in general are considered to be distortions of reality.

In summary, a perceptual judgement is a mental construction associated with language which can never do better than conceal the ultimate nature of things. It appeals to universal concepts which, unlike the particular, are inefficient in themselves, are superimposed on a continuum of events, are common to many things, and are not apprehensible independently of verbal conventions. Nonetheless, perceptual judgement is the successful product of the entire process of sensation, which in its final stage consists in paying attention to the impression produced in the mind by the contact of the physical senses with the external world. Once the judgement arises, we are no longer in the realm of sensation, but rather make a first step in conceptual "reality", where inference is the foremost means of knowing<sup>11</sup>.

## 2.3 Non-conceptuality of sensation

As we have seen in the above presentation of Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation, our author held the view that the ultimately real is what comes in contact with the physical senses before any kind of interpretation or processing be done by the intellect. Insofar as he believed that reality could be known through sensation, Dharmakīrti was

61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Shoryu Katsura gives numerous accounts of the terminology that Dharmakīrti used in PV to refer to perceptual judgement and its workings in an article to appear in the memorial volume in honour of A. K. Warder.

in perfect accord with the philosophical tradition already in place, which also accorded the highest value to sensation as the most reliable and direct means of knowing reality. Yet, insofar as he thought we could only know our mental representations of this external reality, and not reality as such, he deviated from the established epistemological tradition except for Vasubandhu and Dignāga who, among others, already subscribed to phenomenalism. Also, and in this respect he was representative of the Buddhist tradition as a whole, Dharmakīrti strongly deviated from the naïve or direct realism of Brahmanic philosophers, in that he never believed that conceptual constructions, universals or language could denote the true character of reality. To him, all these were always distortions of reality-though they had some practical value-, while to most others concepts and verbal reports were innocent until proven guilty and corresponded to a level of reality superior to phenomenal experience. But was Dharmakīrti, and Dignāga before him, justified to say that concepts have no basis in reality and are merely mental constructions to which we should not attach any supreme value? Are non-judgemental cognitions really possible? What did he have to gain by holding on to such a sceptical attitute toward language? On the other hand, why were the Naiyāyikas, for example, so eager to prove, against Dharmakīrti, that universal properties do exist in the outside world and can be the object of sensation?

This debate between Buddhist and Brahmanic philosophers over the existence of universal properties and the nature of sensation may have had its origin in the work of Dignāga who, instead of criticizing heretical views within Buddhism like Vasubandhu had done in AK, directed his effort at criticizing the epistemological theories of non-Buddhist schools. With respect to the theory of sensation, he is reported to be the first Indian thinker to have introduced a radical distinction between judgemental and non-judgemental sensation, rejecting the first and accepting only the latter as a valid

5
source of knowledge (Shastri, 434). This distinction provoked the Brahmanic thinkers into a debate that lasted for centuries.

We can recall from NS 1.1.4 that the Naiyāyikas already recognized that one of the characteristics of sensory cognition was its inexpressibility <sup>12</sup>; a view that could lead one to believe that they accepted a form of non-judgemental cognition well before Dignāga, since they admitted that the first moment of sensation lacked association with words. However, they also held that universal properties were directly cognizable through sensation because they inhered in the particulars. Thus, for the Naiyāyikas, non-judgemental sensation applied to the simultaneous cognition of the particular, the universal and inherence, while judgemental sensation was the cognition in which the previously cognized universal property and its relation to the particular was verbalized. They further argued that both of these stages were equally valid instances of sensation for they considered an inexpressible cognition stripped of universal content, as sensation was conceived by the Buddhists, to be epistemologically uninteresting and useless because too primitive and outside the scope of our consciousness. In other words, to the Naiyāyikas reality had to make sense and unless it did, it was not reality at all; that is, they gave priority to the world of ideas over that of physical or mental phenomena. But as we have shown in the previous section on perceptual judgement, universal properties cannot have any genuine relation to the particulars, so that Buddhists had no choice but to reject the two types of sensation advanced by the Naiyāyikas. The heresy of the Naiyāyikas compelled Dignāga to say that sensation is by definition completely devoid of judgement<sup>13</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>NS 1.1.4: indriyârtha-samnikarşôtpannam jñānam avyapadešyam [...] pratyakṣam. Quoted in Van Bijlert (1989, 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>PS I:3c: pratyakşam kalpanâpodham.

Dharmakīrti subscribed to the same position as Dignāga's. His argument is found at PVII:123-5, where he begins by saying that the non-judgemental character of sensation is evidenced by sensation itself, and then invites his reader to perform a little experiment which should prove the value of his position. As Stcherbatsky reported (1932, 151), the purpose of this experiment is to show that there is a limit to empirical cognition, and that this limit is the direct cognition of the extreme particular: a cognition which escapes the boundaries of thought and to which we have no conscious access.

pratyakṣam kalpanâpoḍham pratyakṣeṇaiva sidhyati pratyātma-vedyaḥ sarveṣām vikalpo nāma-samśrayaḥ (PV II:123).

Sensation is established as free from judgement by sensation itself. For all [sentient beings], the cognition associated with words is known [as such] by itself.

In his commentary to this verse, Manorathanandin glosses "pratyaksenaiva" as "svasaṁvedanenaiva" (self-awareness)<sup>14</sup>, which suggests that Dharmakīrti's argument rests on the observation that since upon recollection (or self-awareness) some cognitions show no sign of judgement whatsoever, those cognitions are non-judgemental, and they must correspond to sensation. Had there been any trace of judgements, they would have been evidenced by the cognition itself since everyone who makes judgements is also aware of making those judgements. That such cognitions exist is therefore attested by experiences similar to what is described in the following two verses.

samhrtya sarvataś cintām stimitena antarâtmanā sthito 'pi cakṣuṣā rūpam īkṣate sâkṣa-jā matiḥ (PV II:124). punar vikalpayan kiñcid āsīn me kalpanedṛśī vetti ceti na pūrvôktâvasthāyām indriyāt gatau (PV II:125).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>PVV 60.8-9: tac caitad īdršam pratyaksenaiva svasamvedanenaiva sidhvati.

[124] After withdrawing one's thoughts from everything, one who is calmly absorbed with his mind perceives colour through the eye[-consciousness]; this [non-judgemental] cognition is produced by the senses. [125] On the other hand, someone who is thinking knows "I had such a thought (judgement)", and this is not the case when a [cognition] is produced through the senses as in the aforementioned situation.

As Manorathanandin adds in his commentary to verse 125, and as was suggested by verse 123, if a judgement were part of sensory experience, its impression would be remembered<sup>15</sup>. But since what is remembered is precisely the fact of not having passed judgements, we have to conclude that there really was no judgement in that particular moment of cognition and accept that it is possible to have cognitions that are devoid of judgement. In the above example, this non-judgemental cognition is none other than mental sensation. This is evident by the implicit mention of attention, which is characteristic of mental sensation and always absent in sensory cognition.

Sāntarakşita took an altogether different approach to prove that non-judgemental cognitions were possible. While Dharmakīrti's experiment consists in focusing one's attention on a patch of colour without allowing any thought to rise up to consciousness, Śāntarakşita suggests that a non-judgemental cognition also occurs with respect to the sensory object to which we don't pay any attention while our mind is involved with something else. And because such non-judgemental cognition arises when the mind is occupied with some other thought, we know that it arises directly from the senses, which are not occupied with the thought in question. Also, since the judgement follows the sensory cognition, we know that it is secondary and does not belong to the reality grasped by the senses. His argument therefore goes to show that sensory cognition is possible and that all judgement is merely an imposition of concepts on

5.

<sup>15</sup>PVV 60.17-8: yadi sä tatra syät, tat samskärasya smrtir jäyeta, tasmän nästiti nisciyate.

the ultimately real particular which is directly grasped through the senses.

pratyakşam kalpanâpodham vedyate 'ti parisphuțam anyatrā-sakta-manasā 'py akşair nīlâdi-vedanāt (TS 1242).

Sensation is very vividly experienced as free from judgement because even one whose mind is totally absorbed with something elsc [still] experiences such things as the colour blue with [the] eyes.

With this and the preceeding verses, Buddhists have succeeded in showing that non-conceptual sensory and mental cognitions are possible. But we may ask whether they had any interests other than epistemological interests when they showed that conceptual cognition had a limit. Why, in fact, were Buddhist epistemologists so strongly opposed to the view that universal properties are real and insisted instead that they are mere mental constructions?

I suggest that in developing their theory on the formation of concepts Dharmakīrti and Dignāga also devised a means by which they could show that just as concepts are superimpositions on real particularities, so is the eternal soul advanced by most Indian schools a superimposed invention on a series of events. Indeed, Dharmakīrti's experiment, which shows that upon the cessation of imagination and thinking it is possible to cognize the unique particular directly and consequently acknowledge the fact that it is stripped of all the universal attributes which we wrongly impose on it through our various judgements, can apply just as well to the observation of the human body-mind continuum and culminate in the realization that only the five aggregates are real and that no eternal soul can be experienced over and above them. So once again, it would appear that Buddhists may have embarked in the epistemological adventure in order to prove the value of their doctrine of non-self by means of more systematic argumentation. And in so doing, they developed an elaborate system similar to that of their opponents—in the sense that they used the same terminology—

but different enough to prove their own ontology's superiority and disprove any view that deviated from theirs. In other words, the Buddhist epistemologists' claim that sensation is non-judgemental can be equated with that of their predecessors' that nothing has a soul.

#### 2.4 Non-errancy of sensation

A second characteristic of sensation in Dharmakīrti's system is that of non-errancy. This is an innovation of Dharmakīrti that cannot be found in Dignāga's work. In fact, Dignāga insisted that saying that sensation is non-erroneous is redundant since by the very fact of being devoid of judgement, sensation is non-erroneous. In other words, for Dignāga error is the result of mental activity and judgement, and nothing else. The problem with this interpretation of error, however, is that it leaves unexplained erroneous cognitions due to malfunctioning senses, e.g. seeing two moons as a result of an eye-disease. As Dharmakīrti explains, it is not the case that the mind is responsible for such an illusion since the following conclusions would follow:

(1) It [the illusion] would be removed even when the defect of sense-organ is not cured, as the erroneous mental cognition of a snake for what is really a rope is removed only by the close examination of the object. (2) It would not be removed even when the defect of the sense-organ is cured. (3) A man whose sense-organ is sound would also perceive a double moon if he were to hear about it from a man who had a defective sense-organ. (4) It would not be immediate to sense-organ but would be mediated by remembrance. (5) The image of a double moon would not be clear (Hattori 1965, 127; PV II:297-8).

But since the cognition of two moons is a vivid sensory cognition, it does not involve conceptualization. Yet, it is not a valid cognition since it is inconsistent with reality. Therefore, argues Dharmakīrti, we must admit that in addition to the errors due to concepts, there can also be non-judgemental errors (PV II:300) and that this

most unsuspected kind of error is due to defective sense-organs (PV II:288). Accordingly, it is not sufficient to say that sensation—more specifically sensory cognition—is devoid of judgement for it to be a valid means of knowledge; it must also be nonerroneous.

Christine Keyt (1980, 135-6) has argued that this introduction of non-errancy as a characteristic of sensation was necessary not only to correct Dignāga's position, but also to correct Dharmakīrti's weak definition of reliability; weak in the sense that reliability is defined in purely pragmatic terms, i.e. in terms of the object reached being the same as the object intended, and not in terms of an accurate representation of the object. The notion of non-errancy of sensation, in other words, suggests that although he put a great deal of emphasis on the notion of efficiency, Dharmakīrti did not subscribe to a pragmatic theory of truth. Rather, he upheld a correspondence theory of truth insofar as only the sensation that correctly represents reality is a valid means of knowing.

The problem with the criterion of non-errancy, however, is that it undermines the validity of direct sensory experience as a means of refuting our concep<sup>+</sup>ual errors. Indeed, it undermines the whole edifice of knowledge for there is now no means to establish correspondence between our cognitions and reality. If sensation were true in all cases, one could refute a mental error such as taking the whirling torch to be a circle of fire by reducing the velocity of the movement until one could clearly distinguish the single torch. This direct cognition of the torch would serve to show that the circle of fire was an illusion due to the incapacity of the mind to integrate the information provided by the senses. But if non-judgemental sensation is liable to error so that inference is necessary to test the validity of our most primitive cognitions, it is never certain when a direct experience can validate or invalidate a judgement since

we now have a circular system in which sensation validates inference and inference validates sensation. This is exactly the kind of dilemma that Nāgārjuna raised in his *Vigrahavyāvartanī*. Dharmakīrti's criterion of non-errancy therefore plays the double function of assuring that knowledge be a correspondence between our sensations and reality, and of rendering impossible to know when this correspondence prevails. In fact the consequence of the criterion of non-errancy is that the only type of correspondence that can hold will be between our ideas and our mental impressions. That is to say, error is no longer the result of a conflict between sensory cognitions and their supporting reality, but rather the result of a conflict between conceptual understanding and phenomenal experience.

## 2.5 Summary: making sense of sensation

We have seen in this chapter that for Dharmakīrti ordinary sensation, or direct and unconceptualized knowledge, proceeds in three stages. First there is sensory cognition by which we acquire information about the external world. Immediately following this physical sensation comes mental sensation where the mind is attentive to the fact that something or other stimulated the physical senses. Finally comes a judgement which attempts to capture some of the features of the object of cognition by a process of generalization and exclusion of opposites. On the whole, Dharmakīrti's account of this cognitive process appeals as very sensible. Yet we have to ask to what extent sensation, both physical and mental, is really a form of knowledge. For intuitively, we mean by knowledge a conscious apprehension of the nature and reliability of an object for the pursuit of human purposes, and this is a condition which neither sensory cognition nor mental sensation seem able to fulfill because they are devoid of judgement.



As we saw in section 2.3, the fault here is not with Dharmakīrti's definition of sensation for his and Śāntarakṣita's experiments clearly show that sensory cognition and mental sensation are indeed non-judgemental. We find that sensory cognition is essentially an unconscious act in which we are never aware of the object of cognition and hence cannot know its true nature. In other words, sensory cognition does not even know its own object! Certainly, it is an important element of the cognitive process; nevertheless it has very limited value by itself. Its only value lies in the fact that it is instrumental in the formation of a mental image of the external world, which image subsequently gives rise to knowledge. As such, sensory cognition is therefore a *pramāņa* only in the sense of a means of knowledge but never as an instance of knowledge.

And the situation is much the same with regard to mental sensation. For although it is a conscious activity insofar as it involves attention, mental sensation is also devoid of judgement since it knows its object both directly and vividly. And insofar as it is devoid of judgement, we may wonder whether it has any value beyond the fact that it brings new data for the conceptual faculty to chew on. It would seem that until a perceptual judgement arises, mental sensation is just as meaningless as sensory cognition since it does nothing more than revealing the presence of a given phenomenon in the stream of consciousness without being able to identify what it is. Certainly, the situation is a little more complicated when judgements become the object of mental sensation since this particular moment of self-awareness of judgements allows us to know knowledge. For example, in the case of the judgement "This is a book" the fact that this mental event is self-luminous reveals two aspects to the cognizer: (1) the cognition of the object by means of the word "book", and the cognition of the judgement "this is a book". But while we know that we have passed the judgement "This is a book", this in itself does not render the judgement valid; it does not guarantee that the judgement itself is knowledge. The confirmation of the judgement as a piece of knowledge is done in the subsequent moments by means of testing and reasoning. So even in the self-cognizing aspect of mental cognition all that is known is that one is aware of something, without really knowing whether that of which one is aware is true. Mental sensation is therefore never an instance of knowledge at all. Yet, because it is essential to the formation of judgement, it is an important means of arriving at knowledge, which is always conceptual.

Sensory cognition and mental sensation are therefore valuable to knowledge in that they provide the cognizer with the data upon which knowledge can be built. In that sense, it is the criterion of novelty set forth in chapter one (cf page 20) that is most important at this early stage of cognition, not that of being a reliable guide for goal-oriented actions.

One implication of the dominance of the criterion of novelty in sensation is that direct experience only provides the data for the confirmation of truth-claims, but does not itself confirm the truth-claims. This confirmation is done in the subsequent moments when the facts of sensation are gathered and a final judgement in made according to the laws of logic. Accordingly, truth is not what is experienced, but the error-free interpretation of experience. The fact that Dharmakīrti recognized that even direct experience could be erroneous (cf section 2.4) reinforces the importance of such conceptual activity in the search for truth. One implication of the possible unreliability of direct experience and of the central role of reasoning in the scarch of knowledge is that in the matter of religion a given religious experience is not in itself a source of truth. Rather, it is only the interpretation of the experience that can be considered as true. And if no sensible interpretation of the experience is possible, one

will have to conclude that what first appeared to be a blissful experience of reality was in fact a mere illusion. Hence the value of epistemology on any religious path.

We must conclude, therefore, that Dharmakīrti's theory of sensory cognition and mental sensation only serves to explain how we become acquainted with the obvious data of experience, and does not at all contribute to the discovery of truth. Hence the Naiyāyikas, for whom only the concept-loaded perception can be considered a knowledge, may have been justified to reject the Buddhist theory of sensation as too inchoate and illusive to be real. Yet, we must remember that Dharmakīrti's theory of sensation is an epistemological, not a metaphysical enterprise. And as an epistemological investigation, it is a very decent accomplishment.

## Chapter 3

# Dharmakīrti on yogic intuition

As Karl Potter (1963) has argued, the possibility of achieving complete freedom was a matter central to the development of the philosophical and religious traditions of India. It also had a bearing on Dharmakīrti's thought, and in the *Pramāņasiddhi* chapter of his *Pramāņavārttika* Dharmakīrti proved himself a fervent believer in the possibility of freedom when he attempted to show that those who follow and understand the teachings of the Buddha are best equipped to achieve this goal<sup>1</sup>. Assuming for the sake of simplicity that complete freedom is attainable, we will, in this chapter, focus our attention on the epistemological character of the experience that brings it about, namely, the yogic intuition that crowns the practice of meditation. But before embarking on this investigation, it must be noted that while Dharmakīrti may have accepted the possibility of various yogic feats such as walking on water or reading other people's mind, his discussion of yogic intuition in PV is concerned strictly with the special cognition that enables the attainment of *nirvāņa*. Accordingly, this is the only type of yogic experience with which we are concerned in this thesis.

It is in the chapter on sensation of PV that Dharmakīrti discusses most explicitly



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the context of Buddhism, the goal,  $nirv\bar{a}na$ , is essentially freedom from self-inflicted restrictions, discontent and rebirth.

the nature of yogic intuition, which he describes as a category of sensation because it is a vivid cognition pertaining to a real object. But unlike the objects of sensory cognition and mental sensation discussed before, the object of yogic intuition is real not because it is capable of causing cognition, but because it is efficient in the fulfilment of the highest human purpose: the attainment of complete freedom. This object is for Dharmakīrti none other than the four noble truths concerning the nature of discontent, its cause, its cessation and the way to its cessation reported to have been found and taught by the Buddha. As I hope to show in the following pages, while a thorough knowledge of the four noble truths may be the key to liberation, Dharmakīrti's arguments for including such intuition under the rubric of sensation are not compelling, and in fact appear to contradict two of the criteria that he had previously set forth to define sensation: (1) that the object of cognition be a particular and (2) that the cognition be devoid of concept. Having considered whether yogic intuition qualifies as a category of sensation, I then look at the problem of how to distinguish valid meditative experiences from hallucinations.

## 3.1 What is yogic intuition?

Dharmakīrti emphasized that it is only upon fully understanding the four noble truths that the Buddha—and anyone after him—could gain liberation. Specifically, this position proposes that freedom is the result of knowledge and that the first thing to realize in its pursuit is that life is fundamentally marked by discontent, which manifests itself in various ways, the most obvious of which is the physical and mental pains associated with birth, sickness, old age, death, sorrow, grief, despair, separation from the loved ones, etc. One is to realize, also, that even pleasureable experiences are sources of discontent since the ephemeral character of pleasures renders impossible the permanent satisfaction of any desire. And most of all, one is to become fully aware of the fact that discontent arises as a result of the mere presence of the five aggregates of personality (body, consciousness, feeling, apperception and volition) which, though impermanent, are a source of attachment and hence of discontent since as sets of conditioned properties they form an object of attachment that can never be fully immune from unpleasant experiences. Any successful journey toward complete freedom therefore begins with the realization that all aspects of life are a source of discontent. Having understood the intricacies of discontent, one must next develop the desire and determination to remedy to the situation.

In this search for a cure against discontent, a crucial factor is the realization that though recurrent, discontent is in fact impermanent since it is seen occasionally, and it must therefore have a cause the presence or absence of which is responsible for the irregularity of its occurence (PV I:182). This cause, according to Dharmakīrti, is craving for existence (PV I:186); an attitude which springs from the false belief that continued existence and rebirth will eventually lead to the happiness of an enduring personality. If we push the investigation a little further, we find, therefore, that it is the belief in the existence of an enduring personality that is responsible for craving and the consequent discontent. Fortunately, once the cause of discontent has been identified, one is in a position to prevent its perpetuation, since by neutralizing the cause one is certain to eliminate the consequence. Accordingly, Dharmakīrti argues that discontent is preventable and that the realization of the truth of non-self, which is opposite to the cause of discontent, is the antidote needed for its eradication (PV I:138). We find, therefore, that the fundamental cause of discontent is ignorance; that is, the failure by the mental aggregate of apperception to recognize that all phenomena are in fact marked by impermanence, pain and lack of self, and the wrongful interpretation of psycho-physical phenomena as enduring sources of pleasures belonging to the self. In this respect, Dharmakīrti's approach is in perfect accord with what is advanced in the twelvefold formulation of the principle of dependent origination which puts ignorance at the top of the chain of bondage<sup>2</sup>. As we just shown, however, this chain can be broken, and liberation comes about as a result of repeated and disciplined application of this new mode of thinking—that of lack of self—in every aspects of one's life until even the instinctive grasping at a self has stopped.

But this thorough understanding of non-self is a harduous process of learning, thinking and experimentation—reminiscent of the three levels of wisdom discussed in chapter one (see also AK IV:5ff). Firstly, Buddhist education begins with becoming acquainted with the four noble truths by list ming to, or reading about traditional teachings and reflecting upon their meaning. Having begun to understand the doctrine, one then reflects carefully on what has been taught and tries to discern truth from falsity by appealing to the standards of textual exegesis and logical reasoning. Along with that process of learning and critical assessment of the validity of the teachings, one is to develop one's mental qualities in accordance with what one knows to be true in order to test whether there is more to the doctrine than mere theorizing. For it is only when one has applied the teachings to one's life that one will be in a position

Ë

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is because the experience that leads to the cessation of discontent replaces ignorance by knowledge, that I have translated the expression "yogi-pratyaksa" as "yogic intuition", thus making it clear that the experience is cognitive in nature, and is not simply the cessation of conscious extivity as is suggested by the attainment of cessation (nirodha-samāpatti). My translation also suggests that the cognition of yogins, if it is regarded as a type of sensation, is at the same time very different from the other types of sensation discussed in chapter two in that it reveals truths, not facts. Incidently, throughout Dharmakīrti's writings and the commentarial tradition that followed him, it is the word "jnānam" (cognition, knowledge) that generally appears in compound with the word "yogin" when this category of sensation is discussed, not the word "pratyaksam". The use of the word "jnānam" supports my decision to coin the expression "yogic intuition" to this category of sensation.



to decide whether it is the means to one's goal or whether it should be abandoned. In other words, it is only after one has irtegrated the understanding of non-self into one's life that one will fully realize that no, there is no self, and yes, the absence of self-grasping is the way to freedom. Once such level of certainty has been attained and even the instinctive grasping at a self has stopped, one is able to prevent the formation of new defilements and is assured that those defilements which have not yet reached fruition will not, when they do reach fruition, create the conditions for further discontent. With this experiential knowledge, which goes beyond believing the words of a teacher and beyond intellectual knowledge, one has reversed the vicious cycle of craving and will, in due time, put a definite end to rebirth and discontent of all kinds and achieve complete freedom.

## **3.1.1** The practice of meditation

As already intimated in the above section, in order to arrive at yogic intuition, one is to undertake the practice of meditation and subject one's intellectual wisdom to the test of experience—which alone has the power to eliminate the instinctive sense of self and the propensities to defilements<sup>3</sup>. Since the liberative experience is, for Dharmakīrti, a cognitive experience, it is safe to say that the meditation technique which he must have endorsed as leading to the goal was most likely one similar to what is called *vipaśyanā* or insight meditation in classical meditation manuals. Briefly, *vipaśyanā* is an analytical form of meditation which consists in a mindful observation of every aspects of the body-mind continuum and the contextualization of the physical and mental events in terms of discontent, impermanence and lack of self. This technique

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>NB I:11: bhūtârtha-bhāvanā-prakarṣa-paryanta-jam yogi-jñānam ceti (And the cognition of the yogin is produced on the termination of intense meditation on truth.).

is to be differentiated from that of śamatha or tranquillity meditation which, though helpful to the practice of vipaśyanā insofar as it strenghtens the concentration and calms the mind, is nevertheless radically different from it in that it consists specifically in withdrawing the mind from the activity of the senses until consciousness altogether ceases. Because the practice of tranquillity leads, in its higher stages, to various trances in which the analytical faculty is put to sleep, it is difficult to see how it could lead to the realization which Dharmakīrti had in mind when discussing yogic intuition. It is thus only through the practice of vipaśyanā that one will be able to test and establish the validity of the principles of the four noble truths unequivocally. In the words of Winston King (1980, 94), "To be aware of these actions [of body and mind] as an embodiement of that which comes to be and vanishes (impermanence), as that which is restless and ever unsatisfied (painfulness), and as the progression of a series of causes and effects (impersonality) is the essence of vipassanā." And this awareness, according to Dharmakīrti, is what must be understood by yogic intuition.

A typical course of training in vipasyanā will begin with the mindfulness of breathing which consists in observing the breath with vigilance as it comes in and as it goes out the noswills without trying to control it in any way, observing long breaths as long and short breaths as short. As this exercise in mindfulness proceeds, the mind and body become calmer and calmer, and eventually it is the entirety of the bodily and mental phenomena that become the object of contemplation. At this stage, if we are to follow the account given in the Mahāsatipaṭṭhāna-sutta on meditation on the four noble truths, one is to contemplate the vanishing and painful nature of all psychophysical events until it becomes clear that they are indeed marked by impermanence and painfulness. This recognition of impermanence and painfulness will sooner or later lead to the realization that craving and self-grasping are the causes of one's

misery, and to the further realization, once the truth of non-self becomes apparent, that there is in fact no basis at all for self-grasping and that the abandonning of selfgrasping is the way to the cessation of discontent. Put another way, once a certain level of concentration and clarity of mind has been reached, one begins to investigate whether the truths of impermanence, painfulness and non-self that one has studied and thought about before engaging in formal meditation practice apply to the data of experience. Once the cognition of the psycho-physical continuum as marked by discontent, impermanence and non-self is as vivid as the cognition of a grain of sand in the palm of one's hand, yogic intuition has occurred (NBTD 69.1-2).

## 3.2 **Problem with yogic intuition**

. in

ĥ

The problem with Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition is that he wants to incorporate it among the various types of sensation, while in fact the cognition pertains to a specific interpretation of psycho-physical phenomena and, as an interpretation, it seems inevitable that it will involve conceptual activity, which is said *ipso facto* to be absent from sensation. His position on the nature of the yogin's intuition is found at PVII:281 and subsequently defended in verses 282-6. These verses state that the yogin's cognition of the four noble truths, which results from the practice of meditation, is devoid of judgement because it is vivid. And since only sensations are devoid of judgement, yogic intuition must be a category of sensation. PVII:281 reads as follows:

prāk uktam yoginām jñānam teşām tat bhāvanā-mayam vidhūta-kalpanā-jālam spastam eva avabhāsate (PV II:281).

The cognition of yegins has been discussed previously. Their cognition, which is the result of meditation and which is divested of the snares of judgement, appears quite vivid.

The information that Manorathanandin and Prajñākaragupta supply in their commentary to this verse is very important, for it is they who specify that the object of meditative practice is the four noble truths—which Dharmakīrti had discussed previously in PV I—and that the resulting cognition, yogic intuition, is a category of sensation. Prajñākaragupta writes:

catur-ārya-sattya-viṣayam yoginām jñānam prāg uktam. kuto hetos tat bhavatity āha. bhāvanā-mayam bhāvanā-hetukam bhāvanā-balena ca spaṣṭâbham. spaṣṭâbhatvād evâvikalpakam. tatah pratyakṣam (PVBh 326.23-4).

The cognition of yogins was previously said to have the four noble truths as its subject matter. What is the cause of that [cognition]? The cognition is the result of meditation, its cause is meditation and it appears vividly through the power of meditation. By the very fact of appearing vividly, it is devoid of judgement. So it is a sensation.

In the light of the commentaries, it becomes clear that Dharmakīrti's argument for including the yogin's cognition under the category of sensation rests on the notion of vividness and its incompatibility with judgements. It is therefore to Dharmakīrti's advantage to convincingly establish the mutual exclusion of judgements and the vividness of a cognition for his argument to hold. This is what he attempts to do in the remaining five verses of the section on yogic intuition.

The first objection to his position in verse 281, as reported by Prajñākaragupta (PVBh 326.25-7), is that while it is perfectly admissible to say that the cognition of an object which is present to the senses is devoid of judgement, it is not so obvious why one should accept the claim that the cognition of objects of the past or of the future, or the cognition of objects that are absent, become devoid of judgement merely through the power of meditation. The source of this objection becomes more evident when later in the commence of Prajñākaragupta explains that what must be understood by

cognitions whose subject matter is absent are judgements<sup>4</sup>. Why define judgements in this way? Because, as we saw in chapter two when discussing the nature of perceptual judgement (cf page 55), judgements and concepts have no connection with the object of sensory cognition and do not even have a direct connection with the mental image that follows from the direct sensory cognition of an external object. The proof is that the concept "table" can arise without there being a table present in the room. Accordingly, judgements refer to those objects that are not necessarily present to the five physical senses. In this light, leaving aside the interrogation about the possibility to cognize past or future objects, the objection which is of most interest for us becomes: how can a judgement become a non-judgement merely through the practice of meditation? For indeed, the application of the concepts of discontent, impermanence and non-self to the entirety of phenomenal existence as is stipulated in the four noble truths falls in the category of judgement. And it seems impossible that one could fully understand that these concepts are a faithful representation of reality without getting involved in conceptual thinking? To this objection, Dharmakīrti replies that there are situations in which people have vivid experiences of objects that are not present; namely, hallucinations and dreams, so there is no reason to doubt that the practice of meditation can produce vivid cognitions.

kāma-śoka-bhaya-unmāda-caura-svapnādy-upaplutāļi abhūtān api pašyanti purataļi avasthitān iva (PV II:282).

Those who are mad with passion, sorrow or fear and those who are tormented by dreams of thieves and so forth see even absent objects as if [they were] standing firm before [them].

The point that Dharmakīrti is trying to make, therefore, is that through the inten-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>PVBh 327.3-4: vikalpasya parokşa-vişayam eva rūpam iti pratipāditam (It is established that the nature of judgement is that its subject matter be absent).

sive practice of meditation, one can eventually produce a vivid mental representation of an object by sheer will power, just as those who are very confused can have vivid hallucinations. But while it shows that there can be vivid experiences of objects aside from the direct cognition of what is present to the senses, the verse does not provide a convincing argument as to why one should accept the fact that meditation can produce those vivid cognitions. Moreover, it does not explain why one should believe that those experiences, even if vivid, are devoid of judgement. Leaving the first problem aside for the moment, Dharmakīrti addresses the second in verse 283 where he claims that whatever cognition is connected with judgement cannot be vivid.

na vikalpānubaddhasya asti sphuṭārthāvabhāsitā svapne api smaryate na ca tat tādṛś-arthavat (PV II:283).

ł

What is connected with judgement does not have the appearance of a vivid object. And what is remembered even in a dream has no such object.

As Manorathanandin reports in his commentary (PVV 121.9-11), the second half of this verse must be taken as a response to another objection which an opponent could build on the basis of Dharmakīrti's earlier reference to madness or confusion as an element capable of producing vivid experiences of absent objects. The argument is that if confusion can produce vivid hallucinations, certain dreams which are obviously the result of confusion should also contain vivid cognitions. Yet, since it is too often recollections that occur in dreams and since recollections are conceptual activities, the occurence of vivid dreams, the possibility of which was admitted in verse 282, is a counterexample to the claim of verse 283ab about the mutual exclusion of judgement and vividness. But as Manorathanandin writes, while dreams have a certain degree of vividness, it is nothing compared to the vividness of the experiences we have when awake. Accordingly, dreams do not really qualify as instances of vivid cognitions of

imaginary objects; hence Dharmakīrti's restatement in verse 283 above<sup>5</sup>. But contrary to what happens in the case of dreams, what is produced by meditation does have a vivid appearance and is devoid of judgement.

aśubhā pṛthivī-kṛtsnâdi abhūtam api varṇyate spaṣṭâbhaṃ nirvikalpam ca bhāvanā-bala-nirmitam (PV II:284). tasmāt bhūtam abhūtaṃ vā yat yat eva ati bhāvyate bhāvanā-pariniṣpattau tat sphuṭâkalpa-dhī-phalam (PV II:285).

[284] A meditation object of impure earth, even though it is not [physically] present [and] it has been constructed through the power of meditation, is described [by us] as having a vivid appearance and as being devoid of judgement. [285] Therefore, whatever is meditated upon very much, whether it is present or not, has a vivid and non-judgemental cognition as its consequence when one has perfected the practice of meditation.

Accordingly, to Dharmakīrti's mind yogic intuition is a category of sensation. And

he wraps up his argument by saying:

tatra pramāņam saņīvādi yat prāk nirņīta-vastuvat tat bhāvanā-jam pratyaksam istam sesāh upaplavāh (PV 11:286).

In that context, the sensation arising from meditation that is reliable, like [meditation on] an object previously established, is accepted as a means of knowing. The rest are impediments.

In order to evaluate Dharmakīrti's argument in these last three verses, it is neces-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>PVV 121.9–11: nanu viplava-vašāt vikalpakam api svapne spastābham jūānam bhavati ity āha. svapne 'pi smārtam smaranam kincid utpadyate. na ca tat prabodhāvasthāyām tādrg-arthavat yādršo nirvikalpenānubhūto 'rthas tādršārthena yuktam smaryate. kim tarhi aspastārtham eva svapna-smaranam smaryate ([Opponent] Is it not the case that because it is under the influence of confusion even the judgemental cognition occuring in a dream is vivid? [Reply] Some recollection occurs even in dream. And it is not the case that what is experienced by non-judgemental cognition in the waking state is like the object recollected in a dream. Rather, the recollection in a dream lacks vividness.). Prajñākaragupta presents a similar argument in PVBh 327.4-7: svapne 'pi vikalpāh parokşa-vişayâkārāh samvedyante, na ca te spaşţâvabhāsinah. viplava-balāt tu spastāyān na kiñcit svapnâdisv aspastam bhavet. dršyante ce svapne 'py anubhūta-smaraņākārā vikalpās tasmān na viplavād vikalpasyâpi. tato nirvikalpa eva parisphutākārah pratyayah (Judgements that represent absent objects are experienced even in dreams, and these judgements do not have a vivid appearance. Now if we suppose that the vividness [of a cognition] is due to the power of confusion, nothing in dreams and so forth would lack vividness. Yet because judgements in the form of recollected experience [which is never as vivid as the direct experience itself] are also observed in dreams, the vividness of a judgement is not due to confusion. Therefore only non-judgemental cognition has a vivid image.).

sary at this point to draw a distinction between at least two types of judgement. As we saw in the previous chapter (cf page 55), with the termination of mental sensation there arises a particular type of judgement, which we called perceptual judgement, which corresponds to the activity of assigning a name or a property to the mental image of one specific continuum of aggregated atoms. An example of perceptual judgement would be: "This is a brown table." This is the most primitive kind of judgement there is, and we make use of it almost instinctively with respect to familiar objects such as tables, chairs, colours, etc.

A second type of judgement which was not discussed in chapter two and which will only briefly be discussed here, consists in making connections between manifestly different objects. Its formation requires the presence of at least two distinct constituents or the presence at different moments of no less than two instances of the "same" constituent. This is an important difference with the type of judgement mentioned above which requires the presence of only one constituent. This second category of judgement also operates at a different level of processing than the perceptual judgement, and in fact presupposes the existence of the latter in order to identify each of the constituents before establishing a relation. In other words, while direct sensory and mental sensation of an object is sufficient to give rise to a perceptual judgement and does not require the use of additional concepts, the second category of judgement does require the presence of concepts. Hence I will call this second type of judgement conceptual judgement because it is a judgement about concepts, as opposed to the perceptual judgement which refers to objects of sensation. Examples of conceptual judgements would be the principle of causality and the inference "this is the cause of that".

Notwitstanding their differences, one important characteristic that these two types

of judgement have in common is that they can be used even in the absence of the object(s) to which they are meant to refer, so that one can think about brown tables or causal relations without actually being a witness of these events. In this respect, concepts such as table or causality can serve in another conceptual process with which everyone is familiar: recollection. Unlike perceptual judgements, and similarly with conceptual judgements, the occurence of recollection precludes the presence of the sensory object. That is to say, the very presence of the object prevents the possibility of a judgemental activity such as recollection from occuring. For we mean by recollection the effort to recreate, by means of the concept with which it is associated, a mental image of an object that is at the moment unavailable to the senses. The mental image resulting from the act of recollecting is not, however, a real object; it is simply a mental construction, a judgement. Moreover, it is usually not as vivid as when the event to which it refers is present to the senses. Unless, argues Dharmakïrti, one undertakes the practice of meditation. And indeed, both the perceptual and the conceptual judgements can serve in the practice of meditation.

The nature of these meditation practices is revealed by Dharmakīrti's reference in verse 284 to meditation objects such as impure earth and so forth, which Manorathanandin explains as referring to the ability of the yogin to project an image of a bloated corpse—so that desire will not arise upon seeing a beautiful woman, for example<sup>6</sup>. This practice, which is thoroughly described by Buddhaghosa in his *Visuddhimagga* (Vis IV) together with meditations on some forty other objects (Vis IIIIf), strikes as a good example of what can be achieved through the intermediate of a perceptual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>PVV 121.13-4: asubhā vinīlaka-vipūryakâsthisamkalâdikā pṛthī-kṛtsnâdi abhūtam asatyam api bhāvanā-balena nirmitam spaṣṭâbham nirvikalpakam cāsmābhir varņyate (A meditation object made of impure earth and so forth, such as a corpse, a rotting corpse and a skeleton, even though it is not present [or] real and it is constructed through the power of meditation, is described by us as having a vivid appearance and as being devoid of judgement).

judgement. Briefly, one begins such practice by staring at a corpse and constant, recalling that it is indeed a dead body, until the sign arises; that is, until one can visualize the corpse at will even with eyes closed so that the physical presence of the corpse is no longer necessary for the meditation practice to proceed. Note that the arising of the sign introduces an important difference in the procedure of this technique from what is done before the sign has arisen. The difference is that in the beginning of the practice one stares at an external visual object and repeatedly associates the concept "corpse" with it, while after one is capable of visualizing the corpse even with eyes closed, each further meditation session will not require the presence of the corpse for its success. Instead, upon repeating mentally the word or concept "corpse", a vivid image of a corpse will be produced. We find, therefore, that the recollection of a concept is essential at every stage of this practice, and especially at the higher level of visualization. But how can the concept give rise to a non-conceptual cognition?

With this question we are back to the objection raised against Dharmakīrti at the beginning of this section and, having covered all the verses which he dedicated to yogic intuition, we find that he was unable to provide a satisfactory answer to it. Indeed, he is content with saying in verses 284-5 (cf page 83) that meditation does lead to vivid cognitions of concepts and his argument stops there. But perhaps we should not be surprised by the brevity of his argument since this question is never really answered even in meditation manuals. Yet, this problem must be solved for Dharmakīrti's decision to include yogic intuition among the category of sensation to be justified, so that it cannot be dismissed so easily.

#### 3.2.1 Meditation on perceptual objects

A possible solution to the question of how meditation on a concept can give rise to a non-conceptual cognition springs from the fact that the concepts used in meditations on such things as corpses and so forth are associated with a particular object of sensation at the beginning of the practice. That is to say, the experience at the core of the meditation is, at the beginning, not a concept but a vivid and non-conceptual cognition of a visual stimulus. More accurately, as we have seen in the previous chapter, in this visual cognition it is not the external aggregation of atoms that we directly know, but rather the image that it produces in the mind and which is known by mental sensation. The meditation practice, even in its beginning when its object is thought to be an external stimulus, therefore starts, like any other experience, with a vivid mental experience. And it is to such a series of mental sensations that the concept (or perceptual judgement) is applied. As the meditation proceeds, however, after the arising of the sign, we find that the perceptual judgement does not come to mind as a result of the occurence of a series of mental sensation, but rather that it arises before the mental sensation of the image of the corpse and serves as the object of recollection in an attempt to recreate the image which was cognized in the first phase of meditation by mental sensation. We find, therefore, that the whole process is circular in that it begins and ends with a non-conceptual, vivid mental image. For while in the first phase it is a vivid mental image created by an external stimulus that gives rise to the perceptual judgement, in the second phase it is the recollection of the judgement that recreates the mental image. And it is when these two images are identical one with the other, when the image produced by recollection is as vivid as the one produced by the external stimulus, that the meditation becomes perfected.

The only difference between these images is that the one resulting from the perfection of meditation is produced, during the visualization, independently of the activity of the senses, while the one produced in mental sensation and at the beginning of the meditation practice is dependent on the activity of the senses. The point then is that because the thing which one attempts to recreate mentally was at the outset a non-conceptual object, there are reasons to believe that it is possible to have vivid visualizations of corpses and similar objects through the perfection of meditation.

## **3.2.2** Meditation on conceptual objects

But while this argument could explain the vivid and non-conceptual visualization of perceptual objects (i.e. objects of perceptual judgement), it still remains to be shown whether it also solves the case of meditations on conceptual objects (i.e. objects of conceptual judgement); that is to say, meditations on such things as causality, impermanence, etc. This question is of great importance since, as Prajūākaragupta writes later on in his commentary, those meditations on perceptual objects such as corpses and so forth do not lead to liberation—though they can lead to various high levels of concentration and serve to temporarily eliminate craving (cf Vis III to XIII)<sup>7</sup>. It is only the meditation on the four noble truths that has this power to liberate the meditator. And since they are a conceptual object insofar as they establish universal relations between events such as craving and discontent, our examination of Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition will be incomplete until we have considered whether

-88

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>PVBh 327.14-5 and 19: atattva-manaskāratvād asubhâdīnān nākāse pṛthivy-ādīnām sambhāvah. atha pṛthivy-ādhayo 'pi vydyante yogi-pratyakṣeṇa dṛṣyamānatvāt. [...] tatra yoginām yady apy amī pratibhāsante tathâpi karyârtham asāv atattva-rūpaiva bhāvanā (Such things as impure earth and so forth do not appear in the air from the fact of concentrating on falsity. Yet, these things are experienced through introspection by yogic intuition. [... But] in this case, although they appear clearly to yogins, nevertheless from the point of view of achieving a goal this meditation is of the nature of falsity.).

meditation on conceptual objects can lead to vivid non-conceptual cognitions, as is possibly the case with perceptual judgements.

The first thing to note about the meditation on conceptual objects is that like the meditation on perceptual objects it can begin with the observation of physical sensations, such as the sensations on the body. Being aware of the body, the yogin trying to understand the four noble truths will try to notice the rise and fall of bodily sensations and will simultaneously call to mind the concept of impermatience in a form such as "materiality is impermanent". As concentration improves, he/she eventually becomes aware of the flow of sensations on the body, of the quick rise and fall of sensations, and therefore has an experience on the basis of which it is possible to conclude not only conceptually, but also experientially, that materiality is indeed impermanent, momentary. The validity of the judgement "materiality is impermanent" therefore becomes more and more evident as the meditation proceeds, and reaches the state of an unassailable truth once the yogin directly experiences the events at the source of the judgement.

ςĒ

In the same way that one develops an experiential understanding of impermanence, it is possible to develop an experiential understanding of painfulness and non-self, the other two principles at the core of the four noble truths. In the case of painfulness, one remains mindful of the rise and fall of bodily sensations and judges them as follows: "materiality is painful since it is subject to destruction." In the case of nonself, the judgement is: "materiality is not self since it has no core" (Vis XX:14-6). Upon observing both body and mind in terms of impermanence, painfulness and nonself, one eventually acquires experiential knowledge of the validity of these truths as applied to the entirety of the aggregates of personality, and it is this knowledge that will lead to dispassion and to the end of misery.

But although it has a strong basis in experience, it is difficult to see how this thorough understanding of the universal applicability of impermanence, painfulness and non-self could be acquired independently of conceptual activity. For what is known through these meditations are relations between events. For example, in the case of the knowledge of impermanence what is experienced directly, vividly and nonconceptually through the senses is first the presence of a bodily feeling and then, a moment later, the absence of a bodily feeling. The relation between these two events cannot be grasped by the senses, however, since one of the two events, namely the presence of a bodily feeling, now belongs to the past and the senses can only know what is immediately present. The relation between the two events can therefore only be known upon recollection of the event from the past, and since recollection is a conceptual activity the cognition is conceptual and cannot be a sensation. Another conceptual activity also occurs after the recollection of the past event: the establishment of its relation to the present event, which relation is essential to the conclusion that materiality is impermanent. In this light, it seems impossible to ever have a non-conceptual knowledge of the principle of impermanence.

And the situation is much the same with the knowledge of painfulness and nonself. For although it is possible that one has a very vivid experience of prin during the practice of meditation, the realization of painfulness that is supposed to bring about liberation is the realization that painfulness is a characteristic of every psycho-physical phenomena, not only of the ones experienced at the moment. And since judging on the basis of the observance of a few instances of painfulness that everything is marked by painfulness is an inference, the full realization of this first noble truth is a conceptual activity. As for the realization of non-self, this is also an inference based, this time, on the non-observation of an enduring self—as opposed to the observation of non-self,—in

60

Ś

the totality of one's body and mind. And even if it is admitted that the yogin can survey his/her entire psycho-physical structure objectively and non-conceptually, the knowledge of non-self is not complete until the inference is drawn.

We must conclude, therefore, that the yogin's knowledge of all three aspects of the four noble truths, even when in deep meditation, cannot be acquired without at least some trace of conceptual thinking. This should not come as a surprise, however, since Vasuvandhu, who had a great influence on the thought of Dignāga and Dharmakīrti, had already acknowledged that impermanence, painfulness and non-self were general properties (AKBh VI:14) which could only be discerned by the intellect. In fact, Dharmakīrti himself held the view that general properties could only be known by inference—hence conceptually, while only particular properties could be known by sensation. But if he really believed that general properties were mental constructs, why claim that the principles of the four noble truths are known non-conceptually by the yogin?

Before rejecting Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition as inconsistent and inconclusive, let us look at one last possible interpretation of his position.

#### 3.2.3 Solution: self-awareness

Ë

As we have seen in chapter two Dharmakīrti defended a view according to which each moment of awareness has both an objective and a cognitive aspect. It is not impossible that the understanding of non-self, as was suggested at that time (cf page 50), lie in the direct perception of the simultaneous rise and fall of these two aspects of awareness and the realization that since they occur together there cannot be any enduring self separate from the objects of cognition. In other words, with the repeated meditation upon an object the distance between the cognizer and the object decreases until

there is the experience of there being no difference between the yogin and the object of meditation. And this experience of unity between the subject and the object of experience could be regarded as an instance of experiential knowledge of non-self. As it was mentioned above, however, in order to fully understand non-self, one must step out of that experience and use it as an inferential sign toward the conclusion that the whole continuum of body and mind lacks a self. Accordingly, although the experience may be devoid of concept, the understanding of the experience, which is what Dharmakīrti meant by yogic intuition, is not. Yet, this does not mean that there is no possibility for the intuition to count as a category of sensation since this piece of inferential knowledge can be known directly by self-awareness.

It is indeed a characteristic of Dharmakīrti's system that every act of awareness, whether conceptual or not, is self-evident insofar as it does not require the presence of another moment of awareness to make itself known (cf page 52). As a result, the cognition of a mental cognition is always direct and non-conceptual knowledge. Now if we look at the yogic intuition of impermanence, painfulness and non-self in this light, we find that while it must be admitted that the act of making the inference "there is no self" is indeed a conceptual act and that it plays a very significant role in the attainment of freedom, it must also be admitted that unless one knows that one has made this valid inference, it is very unlikely that the inference will have the psychological power necessary to stop the cycle of craving and misery which ruled the life of the yogin before the experience of non-self, painfulness and impermanence occurred. And since the knowledge of each mental event, according to the notion of self-awareness, is a non-conceptual knowledge, there is now a way to support the argument according to which the yogin's cognition of impermanence, painfulness and non-self is a piece of non-conceptual knowledge. Dharmakīrti's puzzling statement

that a yogin can have non-conceptual knowledge of a conceptual truth can therefore be understood to mean that yogic intuition is the awareness of the judgement "there is no self", once this judgement has been validated by the test of meditative experience. In other words, the yogin's intuition is really a type of mental sensation which is given another name only because it is the outcome of meditation and because its object is a set of concepts whose close correspondence to reality enables the meditator to achieve freedom from discontent.

#### 3.3 Validation of yogic intuition

Now that we have investigated the nature of the yogic intuition, we must ask whether there are any criteria by means of which we could differentiate faulty intuitions from those that are veridical. For it is evident from looking at Dharmakīrti's treatment of this special kind of cognition that the vividness of the experience does not at all guarantee that it is in accordance with reality; hallucinations are examples of vivid experiences which are nonetheless completely false (PV II:282), and so are meditations on falsehood (PV II:285). We must therefore look elsewhere than at the vividness of a yogic intuition to determine its truthfulness.

Fortunately we do not have to look very far since Dharmakīrti was aware of the problem with the validation of yogic intuitions and identified at least two criteria in the last verse of his discussion of yogic intuition by means of which we could distinguish genuine intuitions from hallucinations. Let us first quote this important verse.

tatra pramāņam saņvādi yat prāk nirņīta-vastuvat

tat bhāvanā-jam pratyakṣam iṣṭam śeṣāḥ upaplavāḥ (PV II:286).

In that context, the sensation arising from meditation that is reliable, like [meditation on] an object previously established, is accepted as a means of knowing. The rest are impediments.

As the verse clearly states, the first criterion is that the meditation be reliable; that is to say, the knowledge which is acquired at the end of the practice of meditation must enable one to achieve the expected result<sup>8</sup>. In that sense a given meditation practice may be reliable with respect to a given purpose and unreliable with respect to another. For example, the meditation on corpses and so forth, while it successfully prevents the arising of sexual desire upon seeing a beautiful woman, is nevertheless unreliable when it comes to achieving complete freedom from discontent, which is the ultimate goal of religious practice. In a religious context, Dharmakīrti argues that only meditation on the four noble truths is reliable since only the thorough experiential knowledge of the principles of the four noble truths which crowns the practice of meditation is powerful enough to put a definite end to the mental habits that imprison us in the cycle of discontent and rebirth. This is at least what Manorathanandin says should be understood by the passage "meditation on an object previously established" since he takes the word "prag" (previously) to refer to the first chapter of PV where Dharmakīrti is busy trying to give a logical basis for the four noble truths (PVV 121.20-1). For Dharmakīrti, the yogic intuitions that must be rejected as faulty are therefore those that conflict with the teachings of the Buddha. It appears, then, that his appeal to reliability is not really sincere and that in the final analysis Dharmakīrti is making a return to dogmatism since he will accept as true only the yogic intuitions that confirm what he already accepts intellectually to be the case.

But calling Dharmakīrti a dogmatist may be throwing false accusations at him. For as was just mentioned, a careful look at the content of PV I reveals that Dharma-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note that reliability was already mentioned as a criterion for truth in chapter one when we looked at Dharmakīrti's definition of truth (cf page 20). Also the sense in which the term arthakriyā is used here is not the same as the one employed to define the object of sensory cognition, whose reliability lies in the fact that it is capable of causing cognition (cf page 37). Rather, arthakriyā means, in the context of yogic intuition, the capacity to fulfill a purpose.

kirti spares no energy trying to provide a logical basis for the four noble truths. Certainly, one may question the validity of his arguments, but at the same time it must be admitted that Dharmakīrti will not be happy with a religious doctrine that contradicts experience and is logically unaccountable. In this respect, it is possible that his confidence in the four noble truths is not a sign of dogmatism, but perhaps simply a sign that to his own satisfaction the teachings of the Buddha are coherent and true. And this brings us to the second criterion for denouncing faulty yogic intuitions and confirming those that are valid: logical consistency.

But that he appealed to logical consistency as a criterion for true yogic intuitions should not come as a surprise since he, his commentators and even the Buddha insisted that one should undertake the practice of meditation only after the validity of the object to be used in the meditation had been established by means of critical thinking (cf pages 15 and 76). And insofar as the object of intuition was already established logically before one undertook the practice of meditation, to find that meditation confirms one's beliefs should not be taken as a sign of dogmatism, but should instead be welcomed enthusiastically as an indicator that reason is not incompatible with the quest for spiritual freedom. For if we call dogmatism any situation in which an action or experiment gives the expected results, it would seem that any successful action, from the most simple one of reaching for a pen to the most complex of scientific experiments, should also be regarded as dogmatic. So instead of jumping to quick conclusions and calling Dharmakīrti a dogmatist, I suggest that we politely identify the flaws in his reasoning and be grateful that even though he flourished in a culture which put a remarkable amount of emphasis on various kinds of yogic feats, he remained unimpressed and appealed to logical consistency as a criterion for validating vogic intuitions.

## 3.4 Summary

We have seen in this chapter that despite Dharmakīrti's controversial account of yogic intuition, it is not impossible that the experience be a category of sensation, as he had set out to demonstrate in PVII. Yogic intuition, as a sensation, is then the direct awareness of the inference during *vipašyanā* meditation that everything is marked by impermanence, painfulness and lack of self; an awareness which enables the yogin to replace the mental habits of craving and self-grasping by those of dispassion and equanimity which alone bring freedom and happiness. But if yogic intuition is merely the awareness of one's understanding of the principles at the core of the four noble truths, and if yogic intuition can be validated by appeal to the laws of logic, why not simply say that it is this conceptual understanding that is most important for liberation as opposed to saying that it is the non-conceptual knowledge of one's conceptual wisdom? In other words, why not make it clear that the yogin's intuition is a conceptual form of knowledge and define the experience as a valid inference which brings peace of mind, instead of trying to disguise it as a special form of sensation?

One way to explain Dharmakīrti's decision to favour the less intuitive of the two alternatives and describe yogic intuition as a category of sensation is, I believe, to acknowledge that Dharmakīrti was aware of the problem of induction. That is to say, Dharmakīrti was aware that while direct factual knowledge is generally reliable, inductive knowledge is never completely safe since it is always subject to refutation by the discovery of hitherto unknown evidence. Consequently, in order to make the teachings of the Buddha unassailable, he had no choice but to find a way to include his intuition of the four noble truths among the various types of sensations. And it would be because conceptual knowledge does not have the psychological force which direct,

vivid, non-conceptual experience has, and cannot therefore produce the mental transformation necessary for the attainment of freedom, that Dharmakīrti emphasized the self-awareness aspect of the cognitive act, as opposed to its inferential and conceptual aspects.

But while this explanation appeals to common sense insofar as it is generally agreed that no descriptive knowledge of an event reveals as much as direct acquaintance with it, the fact remains that the object of liberative knowledge is a concept, not a particular. In terms of religious aspirations, ultimate reality therefore has the nature of a universal concept. And this contradicts everything that Dharmakīrti had set out to demonstrate in his theory of language, according to which words and concepts are never accurate representations of reality and conceptual knowledge is never as reliable as what is known directly in sensation. So no matter how much the knowledge of impermanence, painfulness and non-self is conducive to the pacification of defilements, Dharmakīrti's account of yogic intuition will always remain controversial because it undermines his effort to refute the existence of universal properties.

# Conclusion

It was pointed out in chapter one that contrary to the modern tendency to place high emphasis on personal experience and dispense with logical consistency, Buddhists of classical India believed that it was important to establish religious doctrines and experiences on solid logical grounds before accepting them as true. Dharmakīrti was among those who adhered to this belief, and he wrote no less than seven treatises investigating the nature of knowledge, hoping to discover methods which would enable people to arrive at knowledge and achieve human perfection without having to rely uncritically on scriptures and the testimonies of yogins.

In his effort, after stating that in order to be regarded as knowledge a cognition must successfully lead to the realization of goals or reveal hitherto unknown things, Dharmakīrti said that there were only two ways to secure knowledge: either through direct acquaintance with the object during sensation, or indirectly through inference. As we have seen in the second chapter, ordinary sensation is the most reliable means of knowing because it deals with facts and is devoid of concept. It proceeds in two main stages before the appearance of concepts. First there is the cognition of momentary aggregations of atoms through any one of the five physical senses which, when successful, produces a mental image of the stimulus and arouses one's attention. Once attention is given to the sensory cognition, we are involved in the second type of sensation discussed by Dharmakīrti, mental sensation, which is another direct and non-conceptual mode of cognition. This category of sensation is very important in his system for it is only at this stage in the cognitive process that we can begin to speak of knowledge, since it is only upon directing one's attention to the content of one's mind that knowledge can occur. Accordingly, it has been argued that Dharmakīrti's approach to knowledge could be described as phenomenalism—as opposed to realism or idealism. The most interesting aspect of mental sensation, however, is perhaps the fact that every mental phenomenon, whether the result of sensory cognition or of thinking, is said to be self-luminous insofar as there is direct awareness of the content of one's mind simultaneously with the awareness of that awareness; i.e. the awareness of blue and the awareness of seeing both result from a single mental image of blue.

While sensory cognition and mental sensation describe the normal process of sensation, the third type of sensation discussed by Dharmakīrti is more extraordinary; it is called yogic intuition. As we have seen in the last chapter, this special cognition crowns the practice of meditation on the four noble truths and consequently, unlike sensory cognition and mental sensation, pertains to conceptual objects, not to facts. There lies in fact the most serious problem with Dharmakīrti's account of the yogic experience, for although it involves concepts and resembles an inference more than a sensation, Dharmakīrti insisted that it be accepted as a category of sensation. His reason for holding such a counterintuitive position is psychological in character, rather than epistemological. He argues that the vividness of the knowledge of impermanence, painfulness and non-self acquired on the culmination of meditation practice is psychologically as powerful as direct acquaintance with facts. Moreover, although the yogin's knowledge is conceptual and concepts are always false insofar as they are incomplete approximations of reality, the knowledge of the four noble truths is different from any other form of conceptual knowledge insofar as it alone successfully leads

to the achievement of complete freedom, of *nirvāņa*. We have demonstrated, however, that appeal to vividness is not a sufficient reason to regard the yogin's knowledge as a form of sensation because the concepts that are known by the yogin establish relations between events and the establishment of relations is always a conceptual act, of which sensation is free by definition. We have seen, however, that by appealing to the notion of self-awareness, which is a property of every mental event, it was possible to justify Dharmakīrti's decision to consider yogic intuition as a sensation. Indeed, approached as a form of mental sensation, the yogin's knowledge of the four noble truths could qualify as a category of non-conceptual knowledge if we emphasized not its objective aspect, which is conceptual, but rather its self-luminous aspect. In this context, the yogin's intuition would be the non-conceptual and direct awareness of having established experientially the truth of the inferences that everything is marked by impermanence, painfulness and non-self.

Having recourse to self-awareness to disguise the yogin's intuition as a form of sensation is not satisfactory, however, especially since it does nothing to explain the unexpected result that ultimate reality is now a conceptual object and not a particular. The only consolation we can have from analysing Dharmakīrti's controversial account of yogic intuition is thus that in order to be true, Dharmakīrti says that a yogic experience must not only lead to the expected result, but must also be logically coherent. And in this respect, his system is a confirmation of the argument of the first chapter that epistemology and its testing apparatus must be an integral part of the religious quest.

## References

- Ajdukiewicz, Kazimierz. 1973. Problems and theories of philosophy. Translated by Henryk Skolimowski and Anthony Guinton. London: Cambridge University Press.
- Anacker, Stefan. 1984. Seven works of Vasubandhu: the Buddhist psychological doctor. Religions of Asia Series, 4. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass.
- Angeles, Peter A. 1992. The HarperCollins dictionary of philosophy. New York: HarperPerrennial, A Division of HarperCollins Publishers (Second edition).
- Apte, Vaman Shivaram (ed). 1890. The practical Sanskrit-English dictionary. Reprinted from the Revised and Enlarged Edition, Poona 1957. Editors-in-chief: P. K. Gode and C. G. Karve. Kyoto: Rinsen Book Company, 1986 (Second reprint).
- Bandyopadhyay. 1979. The Buddhist theory of relation between pramā and pramāna. Journal of Indian philosophy, 7, 43-78.
- Bapat, Lata S. 1989. Buddhist logic: a fresh study of Dharmakīrti's philosophy. Delhi: Bharatiya Vidya Prakashan.
- Bhattacharya, Kamaleswar. 1978. The dialectical method of Nāgārjuna: Vigrahavyāvartanī. Translated from the original Sanskrit with introduction and notes by Kamaleswar Bhattacharya. Text critically edited by E. H. Johnston and Arnold Kunst. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1990 (Third revised and enlarged edition).
- Chattopadhyaya, Alaka. 1972. Tārānātha's history of Buddhism in India. Translated by Lama Chimpa and Alaka Chattopadhyaya. Simla: Indian Institute of Advanced Study.
- Chinchore, Mangala R. 1988. Vadanyaya: a glimpse of Nyaya-Buddhist controversy. Delhi: Sri Satguru Publications.
- Cousins, Lance. 1984. Samatha-yāna and vipassanā-yāna. Pages 56-68 of: Dhammapāla, Gatare, Richard Gombrich, & Norman, K.R. (eds), Buddhist studies in honour of Hammalava Saddhātissa. Sri Lanka: University of Jayewardenepura.

- Dreyfus, Georges. 1991. Dharmakīrti's definition of pramāņa and its interpreters. Pages 19-38 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Dreyfus, Georges, & Lindtner, Christian. 1989. The Yogācāra philosophy of Dignāga and Dharmakīrti. Studies in Central & East Asian Religions, 2, 27-52.
- Franco, Eli. 1984. On the interpretation of Pramāņasamuccaya (vrtti) i, 3d. Journal of Indian philosophy, 12, 389-400.
- Franco, Eli. 1986. Once again on Dharmakīrti's deviation from Dignāga on pratyakṣâbhāsa. Journal of Indian philosophy, 14(1), 79-97.
- Franco, Eli. 1991. The disjunction in Pramāņavārttika, Pramāņasiddhi chapter, verse
  5c. Pages 39-51 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Frauwallner, Erich. 1961. Landmarks in the history of Indian logic. Wiener Zeitschrift für die Kunde Süd- und Ostasiens, 5, 125-48.
- Gangopadhyaya, Mrinalkanti. 1971. Vinītadeva's Nyāyabindu-ţīkā. Sanskrit original reconstructed from the extant Tibetan version, with English translation and annotation by Mrinalkanti Gangopadhyaya. Calcutta: Indian Studies Past & and Present. Sole distributors: Firma K.L. Mukhopadhyaya.
- Gillon, Brendan S. 1991. Dharmakīrti and the problem of induction. Pages 53-8 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Gupta, Rita. 1980. The Buddhist doctrine of momentariness and its presuppositions. Journal of Indian philosophy, 8, 47–68.
- Hall, Bruce Cameron. 1986. The meaning of vijñapti in Vasubandhu's concept of mind. Journal of the International Association of Buddhist Studies, 9(1), 7-23.
- Hattori, Masaaki. 1965. Pratyaksâbhāsa, Dignāga's view and Dharmakīrti's interpretation. Indogaku-shiron-shū, 122-8.
- Hattori, Masaaki. 1968. Dignāga on perception: being the Pratyakṣapariccheda of Dignāga's Pramāṇasamuccaya. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Hayes, Richard P. 1984. The question of doctrinalism in the Buddhist epistemologists. Journal of the American Academy of Religions, 52, 645-70.
- Hayes, Richard P. 1988. Dignāga on the interpretation of signs. Studies of Classical India, 9. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Hayes, Richard P. 1993. Dignāga, Dharmakīrti and Peirce on signs. Delivered before the Pragmatism and Empiricism in American Religious Thought Group at the annual meeting of the American Academy of Religion, Washington D.C.
- Hayes, Richard P. 1994. Whose experience validates what for Dharmakīrti? To appear in the memorial volume in honour of Bimal Krishna Matilal.
- Hayes, Richard P., & Gillon, Brendan S. 1991. Introduction to Dharmakīrti's theory of inference as presented in Pramāņavārttika Svopajñavrtti 1–10. Journal of Indian philosophy, 19(1), 1–73.
- Herzberger, Radhika. 1986. Bhartrhari and the Buddhists: an essay in the development of fifth and sixth century Indian thought. Studies of Classical India, 8. Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Company.
- Jackson, Roger R. 1983. Is enlightenment possible? An analysis of some arguments in the Buddhist philosophical tradition, with special attention to the Pramāņasiddhi chapter of Dharmakīrti's Pramāņavārttika. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Jackson, Roger R. 1988. The Buddha as Pramāṇabhūta: Epithets and arguments in the Buddhist "logical" tradition. Journal of Indian philosophy, 16(4), 335-65.
- Jackson, Roger R. 1993. Is enlightenment possible? Dharmakīrti and rGyal tshab rje on knowledge, rebirth, no-self and liberation. Introduced, translated and annotated by Roger R. Jackson. Ithaca, New York: Snow Lion Publications.
- Jayatilleke, Kulatissa Nanda. 1963. Early Buddhist theory of knowledge. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1980 (Reprint).
- Jha, Ganganatha. 1912-9. The Nyāya-sūtras of Gautama: with the Bhāṣya of Vātsyāyana and the Vārttika of Uddyotakara. Translated into English with notes from Vācaspati Miśra's 'Nyāya-Vārttika-Tātparyaţīkā', Udayana's 'Pariśuddhi' and Raghūttama's 'Bhāṣyacandra'. Vol. 1-4. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1984 (Reprint).
- Jha, Ganganatha. 1937–9. The Tattvasangraha of Śāntarakṣita: with the commentary of Kamalaśīla. Translated into English by Ganganatha Jha. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1986 (Reprint).
- Jha, Vashishtha Narayan. 1990. Sambandhaparikṣa = the philosophy of relations: containing the Sanskrit text and English translation of Dharmakīrti's Sambandhaparikṣa with Prabhacandra's commentary. Edited and translated by Vashishtha Narayan Jha. Delhi: Sri Satguru Publications.
- Kajiyama, Yuichi. 1965. An introduction to Buddhist philosophy: an annotated translation of the Tarkabhāṣā of Mokṣākaragupta. Kyōto: Kyōto University, Faculty of Letters.

- Kamala Kumari. 1987. Notion of truth in Buddhism and Pragmatism. Delhi: Capital Publishing House.
- Katsura, Shoryu. 1984. Dharmakīrti's theory of truth. Journal of Indian philosophy, 12, 215–35.
- Katsura, Shoryu. 1988. On perceptual judgement. To appear in the memorial volume in honour of A.K. Warder.
- Katsura, Shoryu. 1991. Dignāga and Dharmakīrti on apoha. Pages 129-44 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Keyt, Christine Mullikin. 1980. Dharmakīrti's concept of the svalakṣaṇa. Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Washington, Department of Philosophy.
- King, Winston Lee. 1980. Theravāda meditation: the Buddhist transformation of yoga. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.
- Kitagawa Hidenori. 1965a. Indo koten ronrigaku no kenkyū: Jinna (Dignāga) no taikei. Tokyo: Suzuki Gakujutsu Zaidan, 1973 (Second revised edition).
- Kitagawa Hidenori. 1965b. A refutation of solipsism (Annotated translation of the Samtānântarasiddhi). Pages 407-29 of: Indo koten ronrigaku no kenkyū: Jinna (Dignāga) no taikei. Tokyo: Suzuki Gakujutsu Zaidan, 1973 (Second revised edition).
- Kitagawa Hidenori. 1965c. A study of a short philosophical treatise ascribed to Dignāga (Abridged translation of the Ch'ü-yin-chia-she-lun). Pages 430-9 of: Indo koten ronrigaku no kenkyū: Jinna (Dignāga) no taikei. Tokyo: Suzuki Gakujutsu Zaidan, 1973 (Second revised edition).
- Krishnamacharya, Embar (ed). 1926. Tattvasangraha of Śāntarakṣita with the commentary of Kamalaśīla. Edited with an introduction in Sanskrit by Embar Krishnamacharya, with a foreword by Late Dr. B. Bhattacharya. Gaekwad's Oriental Series, no. 30-1. Baroda: Oriental Institute, 1984 (Reprint).
- La Vallée Poussin, Louis de. 1923. L'Abhidharmakośa de Vasubandhu, traduction et annotation. 6 volumes. Nouvelle édition anastatique présentée par Etienne Lamotte. Mélanges chinois et bouddhiques, 16. Brussels: Institut Belge des Hautes Études Chinoises, 1971.
- Lindter, Christian. 1980. Apropos Dharmakīrti—two new works and a new date. Acta orientalia, 41, 27-37.
- Lindtner, Christian. 1984. Marginalia to Dharmakīrti's Pramāņaviniścaya 1-11. Wiener Zeitschrift für die Kunde Südasiens, 28, 149-75.

- Lindtner, Christian. 1991. The initial verses of the Pramāņasiddhi chapter of the Pramāņavārttika. Pages 155-9 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Maitra, Susil Kumar. 1974. Fundamental questions of Indian metaphysics and logic. Calcutta: University of Calcutta.
- Malvania, Dalsukhbhai (ed). 1955. Pandita Durveka Miśra's Dharmottarapradīpa (Being a sub-commentary on Dharmottara's Nyāyabinduțīkā, a commentary on Dharmakīrti's Nyāyabindu). Tibetan Sanskrit Works, 2. Patna: Kashiprasad Jayaswal Research Institute, 1971 (Second revised edition).
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna. 1974. A critique of Buddhist idealism. Pages 139-69 of: Cousins, Lance et al (ed), Buddhist studies in honour of I. B. Horner. Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Company.
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna. 1985. Logic, language, and reality: an introduction to Indian philosophical studies. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1990 (Second edition).
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna. 1986a. Buddhist logic and epistemology. Pages 1-30 of: Matilal, Bimal Krishna, & Evans, Robert D. (eds), Buddhist logic and epistemology: studies in the Buddhist analysis of inference and language. Studies of classical India, 7. Dordrecht, Holland; Boston: D. Reidel Pub. Co.
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna. 1986b. Perception: an essay on Classical Indian theories of knowledge. Oxford: Clarendon Paperbacks, 1991.
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna. 1986c. Sva-samvedana: self-awareness. Pages 74-9 of: Lipner, Julius J., & Killingley, Dermott (eds), A net cast wide: investigations into Indian thought in memory of David Friedman. Newcastle upon Tyne: Grevatt & Grevatt.
- Matilal, Bimal Krishna, & Evans, Robert D. (eds). 1986. Buddhist logic and epistemology: studies in the Buddhist analysis of inference and language. Studies of classical India, 7. Dordrecht, Holland; Boston: D. Reidel Pub. Co.
- McDermott, Charlene. 1978. Yogic direct awareness as means of valid cognition in Dharmakīrti and Rgyal-tshab. Pages 144-66 of: Minoru Kiyota, & Elvin W. Jones (eds), Mahāyāna Buddhist meditation: theory and practice. Honolulu: The University Press of Hawaii.
- Mikogami, E. 1979. Some remarks on the concept of arthakriyā. Journal of Indian philosophy, 7, 79-94.
- Mookerjee, Satkari. 1935. The Buddhist philosophy of universal flux: an exposition of the philosophy of the critical realism as expounded by the school of Dignāga. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass, 1975 (Reprint).

Moriyama, Seitatsu. 1991. The later Mādhyamika and Dharmakīrti. Pages 199-210 of: Steinkellner, Ernst (ed), Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.

Nagatomi Masatoshi. 1968. Arthakriyā. Adyar library bulletin, **31/32**, 52-72.

- Nagatomi Masatoshi. 1980. Mānasa-pratyakṣa: a conundrum in the Buddhist pramāṇa system. Pages 243-60 of: M. Nagatomi, B.K. Matilal, J.M. Masson, & Dimock, E. (eds), Sanskrit and Indian studies: essays in honour of Daniel H. H. Ingalls. Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Company.
- Nānamoli, Bhikkhu. 1956. The path of purification (Visuddhimagga). Kandy: Buddhist Publication Society, 1991 (Fifth edition).
- Oliver, Curtis F. 1978. Perception in early Nyāya. Journal of Indian philosophy, 6, 243-66.
- Pandeya, Ram Chandra (ed). 1989. The Pramāņavārttikam of Ācārya Dharmakīrti: with the commentaries Svopajñavrtti of the author and Pramāņavārttikavrtti of Manorathanandin. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass.
- Payne, R.K. 1987. The theory of meaning in Buddhist logicians: the historical and intellectual context of apoha. Journal of Indian philosophy, 15, 261-84.
- Phillips, Stephen H. 1987. Dharmakīrti on sensation and causal efficiency. Journal of Indian philosophy, 15, 231-59.
- Potter, Karl H. 1963. Presuppositions of India's philosophies. Dehli: Motilal Banarsidass, 1991 (First Indian edition).
- Potter, Karl H. (ed). 1977. Encyclopedia of Indian philosophies: Indian metaphysics and epistemology: the tradition of Nyāya Vaišeşika up to Gangeśa. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Rani, Vijaya. 1982. The Buddhist philosophy as presented in Mīmāmsā-śloka-vārttika. Foreword by G. Bhattacharya. Delhi: Parimal Publications.
- Sāmkrtyāyana, Rāhula (ed). 1953. Pramāņavārtikabhāshyam or Vārtikālankārah of Prajñākaragupta (Being a commentary on Dharmakīrti's Pramāņavārtikam). Tibetan Sanskrit Works, 1. Patna: Kashi Prasad Jayaswal Research Institute.
- Sangharakshita, Sthavira. 1990. Vision and transformation: an introduction to the Buddha's Noble Eightfold Path. Glasgow: Windhorse Publications.
- Sastri, Swāmī Dwārikādās (ed). 1987. Abhidharmakośa & Bhāṣya of Acārya Vasubandhu with Sphutārthā commentary of Ācārya Yaśomitra. Critically edited by Swāmī Dwārikādās Śastri. Varanasi: Bauddha Bharati (Third edition).
- Sayadaw, Mahasi. 1971. Practical insight meditation: basic and progressive stages. Kandy, Sri Lanka: Buddhist Publication Society, 1991 (Reprint).

- Shah, Nagin J. 1981. Essentials of Dharmakīrti's theory of knowledge (based on the Pramāņavārttika). Pages 251-9 of: Bruhn, Klaus und Albrecht Wezler (ed), Studien zum Jainismus und Buddhismus: Gedenkschrift für Ludwig Alsdorf. Altund Neu-Indische Studien, 23. Wiesbaden: Franz Steiner Verlag GmbH.
- Shastri, Dharmendra Nath. 1964. Critique of Indian realism: a study of the conflict between the Nyāya-vaiśesika and the Buddhist Dignāga school. Agra: Agra University.
- Shastri, Swami Dwarikadas (ed). 1968. Pramāņavārttika of Acharya Dharmakīrti with the commentary "Vrtti" of Acharya Manorathanandin. Bauddha Bharati,
  3. Varanasi: Bauddha Bharati.
- Singh, B.N. 1988. Tarkabhāsā: a manual of Buddhist logic. Varanasi: Asha Prakashan.
- Stcherbatsky, Theodore. 1930. Buddhist logic. Vol. 2. New York: Dover Publications, 1962 (Reprint).
- Stcherbatsky, Theodore. 1932. Buddhist logic. Vol. 1. New York: Dover Publications, 1962 (Reprint).
- Steinkellner, Ernst (ed). 1967. Dharmakīrti's Hetubinduh: Tibetischer Text und rekonsruierter Sanskrit-Text. Edited by Ernst Steinkellner. Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Philosophisch-historische Klasse Sitzungs-berichte 252. Veröffentlichungen der Kommission für Sprachen und Kulturen Süd- und Ostasiens, Heft 4. Vienna: Kommissionsverlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Steinkellner, Ernst. 1982. The spiritual place of the epistemological tradition in Buddhism. Nanto bukkyō (Journal of the Nanto Society for Buddhist Studies), 49, 1-15.
- Steinkellner, Ernst (ed). 1991. Studies in the Buddhist epistemological tradition. Proceedings of the Second International Dharmakīrti Conference, Vienna, June 11-16, 1989. Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Philosophisch-historische Klasse Denkschriften 222. Beiträge zur Kultur- und Geistesgeschichte asiens, Nr.
  8. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Steinkellner, Ernst. 1992. Lamotte and the concept of anupalabdhi. Asiatische studien, **46**(1), 398–410.
- Sunno, Bhikkhu (Jack Kornfield). 1977. Living Buddhist masters. Boulder: Prajna Press, 1983. (Reprint. Originally published: Santa Cruz, CA: Unity Press).
- Tola, Fernando, & Dragonetti, Carmen. 1982. Dignāga's Alambanaparīkṣavṛtti. Journal of Indian philosophy, 10, 105–34.

- Van Bijlert, Vittorio. 1989. Epistemology and spiritual authority. The development of epistemology and logic in the old Nyāya and the Buddhist school of epistemology with an annotated translation of Dharmakīrti's Pramāņavārttika II (Pramāņasiddhi) vv.1-7. Vienna: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Vetter, Tilmann. 1988. The ideas and meditative practices of Early Buddhism. Leiden; New York: E.J. Brill.
- Vyas, Chandra Shekhar. 1991. Buddhist theory of perception with special reference to the Pramanavarttika of Dharmakirti. New Delhi: Navrang.
- Walshe, Maurice. 1987. Thus have I heard: The long discourses of the Buddha. Digha Nikāya. London: Wisdom Publications.

Warder, A.K. 1980. Indian Buddhism. Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass (Second revised).

- Wayman, Alex. 1977–8. A reconsideration of Dharmakīrti's deviation from Dignāga on pratyakṣâbhāsa. Annals of the Bhandarkar Oriental Research Institute, 58–9, 387–96.
- Wayman, Alex. 1979. Yogācāra and the Buddhist logicians. Journal of the International Association of Buddhist Studies, 2, 65–78.
- Woodward, F. L. 1932. The book of the gradual sayings (anguttara-nikāya): or morenumbered sayings. Vol. 1. (Ones, two, threes). With an introduction by Mrs Rhys Davids. Pali Text Society Translation Series, 22. London: Pali Text Society, 1989 (Reprint).
- Wylie, Turrell. 1959. A standard system of Tibetan transcription. Harvard Journal of Asiatic Studies, 22, 261–7.
- Yamaguchi, Susumu. 1929. Dignāga. Examen de l'objet de la connaissance (Ālambanaparīksā): textes tibétain et chinois et traduction des stances et du commentaire. Éclaircissements et notes d'après le commentaire tibétain de Vinītadeva, par Yamaguchi Susumu, en collaboration avec Henriette Meyer. Journal asiatique, Janvier-Mars, 1-59.